CeM PANY NUMBED - 0F 3D 205&

@ PEMBRIDGE RESOURCES

ANNUAL REPORT AND
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

R A

AD3 14/10/2020 #H2
COMF"JANIES HOUSE

[ER VIRV

COMPANIES HOUSE

WEDNESDAY




Contents

Strategic Report
Chairman’s and Chief Executive's statement
Principal Risks and Uncertainties and Key Performance Indicators
Corporate and Social Responsibility Report
Board of Directors and Senior Management
Directors’ Report
Governance Report
Birectors’ Remuneration Report
Directors’ Responsibilities
independent Auditor's Report to the members of Pembridge Resources Pic
Consolidated Financial Statements
Ceonsolidated Statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated Statement of financial positicn
Company Statement of financial position
Consolidated Statement of changes in equity
Company Statement of changes in eguity
Consotidated Cash flow statement
Company Cash flow staternent
Notes to the Financial Statements
Company Information

Comgany Information

24

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

60

60



2 | Fempn ape Aeanur e ol ShrAarese e

Chairman and Chief Executive's statement

Chairman and Chief Executive's statement

We are pleased to present the report and Consolidated
Financial Statements of Pembridge Resources Pic
{"Pembridge” or "the Group”) and the company
Financial Statements of Pembrigdge Resources Plc ("the
Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Introduction

Given the macro outlook for mining and mining
investment, the Directors believed an opportunity
existed for the Company to take advantage of cyclically
low asset and project valuations, particularly in base
and precious metals which were offering, and still
offer, significant opportunities to invest in orphaned
projects where existing management teams have been
restricted in their access to capital.

On 3 June 2019, the Company entered into a share
purchase agreement ("SPA”) to acquire Minto
Explorations Ltd. ("Minte”) from Capstone Mining
Corporation ("Capstone”). Mintc is a copper-gold-silver
mine located in Yukon, Canada (the "Minto Mine”).
Minto was acquired while the Minto Mine was on care
and maintenance and, following the acquisition, the
Mintc Mine restarted production in Q4 2019.

Minto is located in the mining friendly Yukon territory

in Canada and has 3 10-year production history with

all key infrastructure and facilities in place. Minto fits
perfectly with the Company’s stated goal to acquye a
producing and profitable mining cperation to which our
team can add further value. This acquisition represents
a core asset to Pembridge and will be used as a
platform for future growth.

On 18 September 2019, the Company announced
the appocintment of Gati Al-Jebouri as Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of its board of directors (the
"Board" or "Directors”). The following changes also
occurred on the same date: David Linsley resigned
from his position as Chief Executive Officer and his
directorship; and Francis 'Frank’ McAllister stepped
down as Non-Executive Chairman and remains as a
Non-Exacutive Director,

The ordinary shares of the Compary, suspended ¢n
14 February 2017 following the anncuncement of the
Minto acquisition, were re-admitted to the London
Stock Exchange on 16 December 2019 subsequent to
completion of the Mintg acquisition.




Chairman and Chief Executive's statement

Funding the Minto acquisition

The consideration for the Minto Acquisition comprises gt @‘*
up to US$20 million in total payments due to Capstone , : b
and basec on certain hurdles linked to production ‘ ’ P i 4

levels at Minto as well as future copper prices.

Financing of US$10 million to fund the
recommencement of operations was secured from
Copper Holdings, LLC (“Copper Holdings™), a New
York based private equity group and Cedro Holdings

, LLC, an entity managed by Lion Point Capital, L.P.
(“Lion Point”), 3 New York cased asset manager,
pursuant to a shareholder and financing agreement
between the Company, Copper Holdings and Lion Point
dated 3 June 2019 (the "Shareholder and Financing
Agreement”, together with the Acquisition, the
*Transaction™).

* Staged payment structure of the Acquisition will
allow Minto to achieve a cash generative operating
state before any payments are made to Capstone

- The first payment from Minto to Capstone of US$5
million will e due the sooner of once production
at Minto has reached a steady state 60% of mill
capadity, or on 31st January 2021; this 1s referred to
as the "Restart Date”

- Asecond payment from Minto to Capstone of US$5
million wilt be due once producticn at Minto has
reached 60% of mili capacity and if the copper price
has averaged over US$3.00/1b (US$6,615/1) for
WO consecutive guarters within three years of the
Restart Date

+ Afinal payment from Minto to Capstone of US$10
million will be due upon the copper price achieving
an average of US$3.50/1b (US$7,717/1) for two
consecutive quarters, also within three years of the
Restart Date

Pembridge, Minto, Copper Holdings and Lion Point
have entered inte the Shareholder and Financing
Agreement, under which;

+ Copper Holdings and Lion Point provided, in
aggregate, US$1C miltion to Minto with an 8% per
annum coupaon {the “Debt™)

- Copper Holdings and Lion Point acquired non-
voting B shares in Minto which represent a one third
economic interest each in Minto

- Pembridge has right of first refusal to buy out
Copper Holdings' and Lion Point's respective
interests in Minto

- Copper Holdings and Licn Point have no voting
rights in Pembridge or Mintc
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Chairman and Chief Executive’s statement

Minto operations

In March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic broke cut.
Canadian and Yukon government measures have

had significant imgacts on the Minto mine, including
mandatory quarantines of employees and contractors
entering the Yukon. Such measures have disrupted
operations and caused above normal operating
expenses but have enabled operaticns to continue
while ensuring the safety of the mine’s employees.

Shortly after taking over Minte, an agreement with
Sumitomo Canada Limited ("Sumitomo™), a subsidiary
of Sumitomo Corporation, (the “Agreement”) was
signed by Minto to receive a working capital facility
("Advanced Payrment”) in connection with an off-take
agreement for 55,000 tonnes of copper concentrate
(the "Off-Take™, to be produced by the Minto mine.
The Advanced Payment and the Off-Take are part of a
broader strategic relationship between Sumitomo and
Pembridge. Key highlights of the Agreement being:

- The Off-Take is for 100% of the copper concentrate
produced at the Minto mine delivered on a cost,
insurance and freight (CIF) basis to a nominated
Japanese port and shall remain in place until ()
55,000 tonnes of copper concentrate is delivered,
or (i} 31 December 2020, whichever is later.

+ The Advanced Payment shall be made by Sumitormo
to Minto on a monthly basis, for $0% of the
estimated value of concentrate produced that
rnonth with final payment due on delivery to japan.

- The Advanced Payment allows Minto to immediately
monetise each month's producticn, eliminating the
histerically large working capital requirements when
the site is unable to transport concentrate owing to
seasonal weather disruptions.

< The Advance Payment is subject to interest payable
of USE 3 month LIBOR plus 1.5 per cent until
Sumitoma has taken delivery of the cancentrate
in Japan.

The Mine was brought out of care and maintenance
in October 2019, having completed the raise boring
of the Mintg East vent raise and milling operations
commenced on 10 October 2019, First concentrate
of copper was produced on 11 October 2018 and first
underground blast (6,000t at 4.5% Cu) cecurred in the
Minto East mining area on 13 October 2019.

fn 2008, Minto entered inta a streaming arrangement
with Wheaton Precious Metals Corp (previously
Silverstane Resources Corp.) ("Wheaton”), under
which Wheaton pre-paid USD 37.5 million to help
fund Minto's exploration and thus gained the right to
buy Minto's future gold and silver production at an
advantageous price.

On 8 Novernber 2019, Minto entered into a

Canadian law governed amendment agreement

(the “Amendment Agreement”) for a limited period
{tne “Modified Price Period") to the Precious Metals
Streaming Agreement between, among others, Minto
and Wheaton, dated 20 Novernber 2008 {as previously
amended by a letter agreement dated 11 March 2009
and an amendment agreement dated 13 October
2017) (the "Existing Agreement”}). The key points of the
Amendment Agreement being;

- For the Mcdified Price Period, the price received by
Minte from Wheaton for Payable Gold will increase o
758 of the Market Price (the "Madified Gold Price”

- The Modified Gold Price is effective immediately
and shall end on the earlier of (i} 12 menths, plus 60
days from First Delivery or (i) the first 11,000 ounces
of Payable Gold having been delivered tc Wheaton

- Under the Offtake Agreement between Minto and
Sumitomo, 90% of the Payable Goid contained
within the copper concentrate produced at the
Mintc mine will continue to be paid in advance to
Minte by Sumitomo cn a monthly kasis

 Assuming that the Market Price for geld remains
on average US$1,500 per ounce and that Minto
produces 11,000 ounces of Payable Gold, this deal
could benefit Minto's revenue by up to approximately
US$8.5m during the Modified Price Period

From the restart of the mine to 31 December 2019,
104,005 MT of ore were processed, resulting in
production of 6,436 MT of copper concentrate containing
2,247 MT of copper. US$7.1 million was received in
payments for production in October and November,
pursuant to the offtake agreerment with Sumitomo.

Financials

During the year the Group made a loss of
US$13,087,000 (2018 - loss of US$3,829,000) The
cperating loss of $11,818,000 (2018: $3.829,000)
comprised exceptionsl expenses from the Minto
acquisition of $2,347,000 (2018: nil), administrative
costs of the Company of $3,049,000(2018; $3,825,000)
and the foss post-acquisition from Minto of $6,422,000
(2018 nil) which reflect the costs of re-starting
operations. The closing cash and cash equivalents
balance is US$ 964,000 compared to US$151,000 in
2018.
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Principal risks and Uncertainties

Nature of Risk

Funding Risk
The Company and its subsidiary may need to secure
additicnal funding to cover working capital needs.

Impact
Shortage of cash for Head Gffice and operational costs.

COoVvID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has forced many businesses
to close.

Impact

Closure of the mine would stop production, with
consequential impact cn Minto's finances and on its
employees and suppliers.

Copper Price Risk

The success of Minte is dependent partly on the market
value of copper.

Impact

A high copper price will provide a good income and
additional funding for mine develocpment, whereas a
low market price will reduce that income.

Mine Development Risk

The Group's strategy is to further develop the area
around the Minto Mine and create underground
extensicns to extend the life of the Minto Mine.

Impact

Such developrnent requires funding, a lack of which
could delay progress and the resulting increased returns.

Regulatory Risk

Mining is an industry regulated for environmental and
safety purposes.

Impact
Failure to comply with regulations can result
in penalties.

How we manage it

The Company and its subsidiary have the
capability to raise funds through equity and
loans from shareholders.

By following government requirements on guarantining
workers before they travel to the mine, and using
preventative measures on the site, the mine has been
able to remain cpen to date.

The relatively high grade of Minto's copper means
that the price needed to break even is lower

than that of other copper mines, which fimits its
vuinerability to the copper price. As the mine's
operaticns become established it may consider
Nnedging the price of future production.

As Minto's operations pecome established
the Company and its fellow investors will
have increased opportunities to obtain
funding for its further development.

The Company has appcinted experienced mine
management whose knowledge of the regulatory
environment enables them to ensure compliance.
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Principal risks and Uncertainties

Nature of Risk How we manage it

Human Resources Risk The Groug has attracted and will retain a gualified team
The achievernent of the Group’s objectives will be by providing a competitive remuneration policy, which
dependent on the Company attracting and retaining includes financial performance incentives so as to align
gualified and motivated staff. the team with the shareholders of the Group.

Impact

The efficiency of a particular aspect of the
Group’s operatians could be affected leading
to reduced profitability.

Investment Risk Pembridge has a compreneansive investment policy and

The investments the Company makes fail to be strategy, as outlined in its Financial Prospects Policy

of any value. ("FPP") procedures, that will assist in prudent measures
being made to identify and perform due diligence on

Impact the investments that the Company makes.

The investments are written off.

Business Review & Development

Areview of the business and its operations can be found in the Chairman’s and Chief Executive's statement on pages
2to4.

Section 172(1) statement

The Directors believe they have acted in the way most likely to promate the success of the Company for the benefit of
its members as a whole, as required by s172 of the Companies Act 2006, A Director of a company is required to act

in a way he considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its
members as a whole, having regard to:

- Likely consequences of long term decisions
* Interests of the employees
- Need to further the group’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others
- impact of operations on the community and environment
© Maintaining reputation for high standards of business conduct
* Need (o act fairly
The application of the s172 requirements can be demonstrated in relation to the some of the key decisions made
during 2019:
Minto acquisition
The Company completed the acguisition of the Minto mine during the year and re-started mine production. This was

alandmark in the development of the Group and achieved the primary purpose of the Company up to that time with
a structure that reflected the economic positicn of the Minto mine and of the Company.
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Refocusing the Group post-acquisition

With the Minto acguisition completed, the Company changed its focus to operating the mine. Following the changes
to the Board in September 2019, Gati Al-Jebouri's business background combined with the mining experience of

nis fellow directors gives the Board an effective overview of the mine and enables informed discussion with its local
management. Since the mine's operations are now the priority, the Board has recruited a strong local management
team for Mintc and started to reduce the headcount and cost base of the Company based in London.

As a company operating in the Yukon, Minto engages with the First Nations community in the operations & support
functions of the mine, providing much needed employment and wider economic benefits to the local communities,

and the number of First Nation employees is reported along with total employees to the Board each month to allow
the Board to monitor them.

Gati Al-Jebouri
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
26 June 2020
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Corporate and Social Responsibility Report {(CSR)

Pembridge is committed to complying with all Health and
Safety, envircnmental and sodial legislation and protecting
the health and general wellbeing of its employees. Itis
committed to preserving the environment.

Environment

As a mining-focused company, concern for the
environment is of upmost importance to Pembridge.
Itis our policy to reduce to a minimum the potential
environmental impact of our activities and have a
positive impact on the areas in which we operate..

Health, Safety and Security

The health, safety and security of the personnel and
communities in which we operate takes priority in the
managernent of our operations. Our goal is to prevent
injury and ill health to employees and contractors by
providing a safe and healthy working environment

and by minimising risks associated with occupational
hazards. The monthly report from the Minto mine to
its Board highlights injuries as a perfermance measure,

Business Ethics

Pembridge is committed to carrying cut all its
operations with high moral and legal standards.
Pembridge has an anti-corruption and anti-bribery
policy which are in line with the reguirements of the UK
Bribery Act and eguivalent legislation in other countries
where it operates. Staff and contractors are made
aware of their obligations both on recruitment and by
periodical updates.

The Strategic Report {comprising the Chairman's and
Chief Executive's statement and pringipal risks and
uncertainties) on pages 2 tc 7 was approved by the
Board of Directors and was signed on its benalf by Gati
Al-febouri, Chairman of the Board.

Gati Al-Jebouri
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
26 June 2020
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Gati Al-Jebouri, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Al-lebouri, who was born in Bulgaria in 1969, graduated from the University of Bristol
with a Civil Engineering degree in 1990 and from the Institute of Chartered Accountants
as a chartered accountant in 1994. In 2001 he was appointed Deputy Minister of Energy
of Bulgaria and in 2002 Bulgaria's First Deputy Minister of Finance. His varied career

has included working for the accountancy firm KPMG in London and Bulgaria until
being recruited to LUKQIL, where he soon became Director of investment and Finance
in the London aoffice. In 2003 he became Chief Financial Officer of LITASCO {LUKOIL
International Trading and Supply Company), where he rose to Chief Executive Officer two
years later. In 2010 he became Executive Director for Finance and Marketing of LUKOIL
Mid East Ltd and in 2018 was promoted to Managing Director of the Company, He has
been a Non-Executive Director since 2017 and became Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer on 19 September 2019.

Frank McAllister, Non-Frecuiive Direcior

With aver 50 years' industry experience, Frank McAllister has held various senior and
Board positions in a number of metals and mining companies. He worked with ASARCO
fncorporated for 33 years during which he became Chief Financial Officer in 1982 and
then Executive Vice President of Copper Operations in 1993, Eventuzly he became
ASARCO's President and Chief Operating Officer before becoming Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in 1999. In 1996 he became an Independent Director of Cliffs Natural
Resources Inc and its Lead Director from 2004 to 2013 During the same period, he was
also Chairman, CEC and a Director at Sullwater Mining Co, and served as President of
the National Mining Association during 2012 and 2013. Frank holds an MBA from New
York University, Bachelor of Science in Finance from the University of Utah and attended
the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business Schoal.

Guy Le Bel, Non-Fxecutive Director

Guy brings more than 20 years of international experience in strategic and financial
mine planning to the Pembridge team. He is currently CFO of Golden Queen Mining
Ltd, and was previously Vice President Evaluations for Capstone Mining Corp, Director
of Golden Queen Mining, RedQuest Capital Cerp and was VP, Business Development

at Quadra Mining Ltd. He also held business advisory, strategy and planning, business
valuation, and financial planning management roles at BHP Billiton Base Metals Ltd.,
Rio Algom Ltd. and Cambior Inc. He has extensive experience across precious and base
metals industries in the Americas. Guy holds an MBA Finance from Ecole des Hautes
Etudes Commerciales, a Master Applied Sciences, Mining Engineering - University of
British Columbia and a B.Sc. Mining Engineering from Université Laval.

David James, Clvef Financial Officer and Company Secreiary

Pavid is a Chartered Accountant, having qualified with KPMG in 1985, David has had a
varied career including time spent in Budapest, Hungary and in blue chip multinational
groups, followed by 10 years running his own business as a consolidation and reporting
specialist, providing financial reporting services mainly to multinational listed companies
before joining the Company.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the audited
Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2019.

General information about the Company is provided in
note 1 to the Financial Statements.

Principal activity

The principal activity of Pembridge is to operate as a
base and precious metals focussed helding Company.
The grincipal activity of its main subsidiary, Minto
Exploration Ltd, is copper mining,.

Business review and future development

A review of the business and future developments of
the Group is included within the Chairman and Chief
Executive’s staternent on pages 2 tc 4, which forms part
of the Strategic Report. The Company acquired 100% of
the shares of Minto Explorations Lid on 3 lune 2019 and
the Mintc mine re-started operations in October 2016,

Results and dividends

During the year the Group made a foss of
LUS$13,087,000 (2018 - loss of US$3,829,000). The loss
incurred during the year consists of costs of running
the head office in London, assaciated listing and
regulatory requirements, legal and professional costs
in connection with the Minte acquisition and the costs
of re-opening the Minto mine, No dividends were paid
during the year and the Directors do not recommend
payment of a final dividend (2018 $nil).

Going concern

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. In assessing whether the going
concern assumption is appropriate, the Directors have
taken into account ail relevant available information
about the current and future position of the Group

and Company, including the current and future level of
resources. As part of their assessment, the Directors
have also taken into account the need to raise
additional funding during the going concern period.
Further funding will be required by the Company either
through equity raisings or other financial arrangements
and this additional funding is not guaranteed, however
to date the Company has been successful in securing
funding when required.

The Company has no income stream of its own and

is reliant, until it is able to receive an income from

its investment in Minte, on funding from equity and
foans. The Company is in the process of obtaining
such funding and its management are confident that
it can meet its contracted and committed expenditure

for at least the next 12 months. Minto has received
commitments from its other investors, Cedro Holdirgs
and Copper Holdings, they will support its operations
for at least the next 12 months. The need for the
Company te raise additional funds at the required
amount during the going concern period indicates that
a material uncertainty exists which may cast significant
doubt an the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern, and therefore its ability to settle its debts and
realise its assets in the normal course of business,

Post repaorting date events

These are sef out in note 33 to the financial staterments.

Directors

The Directors who served during the year ended
31 December 20719 and up to the date of signing the
Financial Statements were as follows:

Gati Al-Jebouri Chairman and Chief Executive
Cfficer {from 19 Septernber 2019,

previously Non-Executive Director)

Chief Executive Officer and Director
{resigned 1§ September 2019)

David Charles Linsley

Non-Executive Director (and
Chairman until 19 September)

Francis McAllister

Guy Le Bel Non-Executive Director

Share consolidation

On 16 July 2018 the Company announced the
consclidation of every 10 existing ordinary shares
of nominal value 0.1 pence each into ane Ordinary
Share of nominal value, such consolidation to take
place immediately before the shares are re-listed on
the London Stock Exchange, which happened in 16
December 2019. As a result, reported numbers of
shares as at 31 December 2019 are stated on the
conseclidated basis.

Substantial shareholders

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of issued
ordinary shares with volting rights in the Company
was 63,231,494, Details of the Company’s capital
structure and voting rights are set cut in Note 24 to
the Financial Statements.

The Company has been notified of the following
interests of 3 per cent or more in its iIssued share
capital as at 31 December 2019,
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Directors’ Report

Number of % of Share
Party Name Ordinary Shares Capital
Gati Al-Jebouri 11,348,859 179
Cavic Linsley 3,298,968 5.2
Jonathan Armstrong 4,800,000 7.6
Frank Mcallister 3,451,419 55
Guy Le Bel 2,823,545 4.5

Capital structure

The Company's capital consists of ordinary shares
which rank pari passu in all respects and are traded

on the Standard segment of the Main Market of the
London Stock Exchange. There are no restrictions

on the transfer of securities in the Cempany or
restrictions on voting rights and none of the Company's
shares zre owned or controlled by employee share
schemes, There are no arrangements in place between
shareholders that are known to the Company that may
restrict voting rights, restrict the transfer of securities,
resuit in the appointment or replacement of Directors,
amend the Company's articles of association or restrict
the powers of the Company's Directers, including in
relation to the issuing or buying back by the Campany
of its shares or any significant agreements to which

the Company is a party that take effect after, or
terminate upon, a change of control of the Company
following & takeover bid, or arrangements between

the Company and its Directors or employees providing
for compensation for loss of office or employment
(whether through resignation, purported redundancy
ar otherwise) that may occur because of a takeover bid.

Directors' indemnities

Pembridge maintained liability insurance for its
Directors and officers during the period and also as at
the date of approval of the Directors’ Report,

Financial instruments

The financial risk management policies and objectives
are set out in detail in Notes 28 and 30 of the
Financial Statements.

Information on exposure to risks

Principal risks and uncertainties are discussed in the
Strategic Report on pages 5 to 7, while liquidity risks are
covered in Note 28.

Greenhouse gas emissions

The Company has as yet minimal greenhouse gas
emissions to report from the operations of the
Company and does nct have responsibility for

any other emission producing sources under the
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors
report) Regulations 2014, The Minto mine re-started
operaticns in QOctober 2019 and will put in place
procedures 1o be able (o report greenhouse emissicns
for 2020,

Corporate Governance
The Governance Report is disclosed on pages 1210 14,

Statement as to disclosure of information
to auditor

The Directors who were in office on the date of
approval of these Financial Statements have confirmed,
as far as they are aware, that there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware. Each

of the Directors have confirmed that they have taken
all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselives aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that it has been
communicated to the auditor.

Auditor

The auditors, PKF Littlejohn LLP, have expressed their
willingness to continue in office and a resolution that they
be re-appointed will be proposed at the general meeting,.

By order of the Board

R

Gati Al-Jebouri
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
26 June 2020



Governance Report

Introduction

Permbridge Resources Plc recognises the importance
of, and is committed to, high standards of Corporate
Governance. At the date of this Report, and whilst the
Company is not formally required to compiy with the
UK Corporate Governance Code, the Company will try
10 observe, where practical, the requirements of the
UK Corporate Governance Code. The UK Carporate
Governance Code can be found at frc.org.uk/our-wark/
publications/Corporate-Governance.

The Company will comply with QCA Code, as published
by the Quoted Companies Alliance, 1o the extent they
consider appropriate in light of the Company's size,
stage of development and resources,

The Cornpany is currently a small company with a
modest resource base. The Company has a clear
mandate to optimise the altocation of limited

resources to support its development plans. As such,
the Company strives to maintain a balance between
conservation of limited resources and maintaining
robust corporate governance practices. As the
Company evolves, the Board is committed {0 enhancing
the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices deemed appropriate for the size and maturity
of the organisation.

Set out below are the Company's corporate governance
practices for the year ended 31 December 2019,

Leadership

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
is collectively responsible for the long-term sug¢cess of
the Company.

The role of the Board - The Board sets the Company’s
strategy, ensuring that the necessary resources are

in place to achieve the agreed strategic priorities, and
reviews management and financial performance. It

is accountable to shareholders for the creation and
delivery of strong, sustainable financial performance
and long-term shareholder value. To achieve this, the
Board directs and manitors the Company's affairs
within a framework of controls which enable risk to be
assessed and managed effectively. The Board also has
responsibility for setting the Company’s core values
and standards of business conduct and for ensuring
that these, together with the Company's obligations to
its stakeholders, are widely understood throughout
the Company.

Board Meetings - The core activities of the Board

are carried out in scheduled meetings of the Board.
These meetings are timed to link to key events in the
Company’s corporate calendar and regutar reviews of

the business are conducted. Additional meetings and
conference calls are arranged tc consider matters which
require decisions outside the scheduled meetings.
During the year, the Board met on 13 occasions.

Qutside the scheduled meetings of the Beard, the
Directors maintain frequent contact with each other to
discuss any issues of concern they may have relating
to the Company or their areas of responsibility, and to
keep them fully briefed on the Company’s operations.

Matters reserved specifically for Board - The Board has
a formal schedule of matters reserved that can cnly be
decided by the Board. The key matters reserved are the
consideration and approval of;

- The Company's overall strategy;
- Financial Statements and dividend policy;

- Management structure including succession
planning, appointments and remuneration; material
acquisitions and disposal, material contracts, major
capital expenditure projects and budgets;

- Capital structure, debt and eqguity financing and
other matters;

- Risk management and internal controls;

- The Company's corporate governance and
compliance arrangements; and

- Corporate policies.

Summary of the Board'’s work in the year - During the
year, the Board considered all relevant matters within
its remit, but focused in particuiar on the completion
of the Minto acquisition, restarting the Minto mine
and re-listing the Company's shares on the London
Stock Exchange. Certain other matters are delegated
to the Board Committees, namely the Audit and
Remuneratiocn Committees,

Attendance at meetings:

Member Meetings attended
Francis McAllister 13
David Charles Linsley &
Guy Le Bel 13
Gati Al-Jebour] i3

All Directers attended 100% of Beard meetings they were
entitled to attend during the pericd. The Beoard is pleased
with the high level of attendance and participation of
Directors at Board and committee meetings.
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Governance Report

The Chairman sets the Board Agenda and ensures
adequate time for discussion.

Non-executive Directors - The non-executive
Directors bring a broad range of business and
commercial experience ta the Company and have a
particular responsibility to challenge independently
and constructively the performance of the Executive
management (where appointed) and to monitor the
performance of the management team in the delivery
of the agreed objectives and targets,

Non-executive Directors are initially appeinted for a
term of three years which may, subject to satisfactory
performance and re-election by shareholders, be
extended by mutual agreement.

Other governance matters - All of the Directors are
aware that independent professional advice is available
to each Director in order (o properly discharge their
duties as a Director. in addition, each Director and
Board Committee has access to the advice of the
Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary - The Company Secretary role is
carried out by the Chief Financial Officer.

Effectiveness

Until 19 September 2019, the Board comprised of a
Chief Executive Officer, a non-executive Chairman and
twa independent non-executive Directors. After the
changes on 19 September, the Beard comprised of a
combined Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
two independent non-executive Directors, Biographical
details of the Board members are set out on page 9 of
this report.

The Directors are of the view that the Board and its
committees consist of Directors with an appropriate
balance of skills, experience, independence and diverse
backgrounds to enable them to discharge their duties
and responsibilities effectively.

Independence - The Board considers each of the
non-executive Cirectors to be independent in character
and judgement.

Appointments - the Board Is responsible for reviewing
and the structure, size and composition of the Board
and making recommendations 1o the board with
regards to ény required changes.

Commitments ~ All Directors have disclosed any
significant commitments to the Board and confirmed
that they have sufficient time to discharge their duties.

Induction - All new Directors received an induction as
soon as practical on joining the Board.

Conflicts of interest - A Director has a duty to avoid
a situation in which he or she has, or can have, a
direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly
may conflict with the interests of the Company. The
Board had satisfied itself that there is no compromise
to the independence of those Directors who have
appointments on the Boards of, or relationships
with, companies outside the Company. The Board
requires Directors to declare all appointments and
other situations which could result in a possible
conflict of interest.

Board performance and evaluation - The company
has a policy of appraising Board performance
annually. Having reviewed various approaches to
Board appraisal, the Company has concluded that for
a Company of its current scale, an internal process
of regular face to face meetings is most appropriate,
in which all Board members discuss any issues as
and when they arise in relation to the Board or any
individual member's performance.

Although the Board consists of only mate Directors,
the Board supports diversity in the Boardroom and the
Financial Reporting Council's aims to encourage such
diversity. The following table sets cut a breakdown by
gender at 31 December 2019:

Male Female
Directors 3 -
Senior Managers 2 -
Other employees - 1

Accountability

The Board is committed to previding sharehoiders

with a clear assessment of the Company's position and
prospects. This is achieved through this report and as
required other periodic financial and trading statements.

Going concern - The Group's and Company's business
activities, together with facters likely to affect its future
operations, financial position, and liquidity position are
set out in the Directors' Report and the Principal risks
and Uncertainties sections of the Strategic Repert. In
addition, the notes to Financial Statements discloses
the Group’s and Company's financial risk management
practices with respect to its capital structure, liquidity
risk, foreign exchange risk, and other related matters.
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The Directors, having made due and careful enguiry,

are of the opinion that the Group and Company have
adequate working capital to execute their operations and
have the ability T access additional financing, if reguired,
over the next 12 months. The Directors, therefore,

have made an informed judgement, at the time of
approving Finandial Statements, that there is a reasonable
expectation that the Group and Company have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for

the foreseeable future. As a result, the Directors have
continued to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
in preparing the annual Financial Statements.

Internal controls - The Board of Directors reviews the
effectiveness of the Company's system cof internal
controls in line with the requirement of the Code. The
internal contrel system is designed (o manage the risk
of failure to achieve its business objectives. This covers
internal financial and operational controls, compliance
and risk management. The Company has necessary
crocedures in place for the year under review and

up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and
Financial Statements. The Directors acknowledge their
responsibility for the Company’s system of internal
controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. The

Board confirms the need for an ongeoing process for
identification, evaluation and management of significant
risks faced by the Company. The Directors carry out a
risk assessment before signing up to any commitments.

The Audit Committee is made up of the two non-executive
directors and regularly reviews and reports to the
Board on the effectiveness of the system of internal
contral. Given the size of the Company and the relative
simplicity of the systems, the Board considers that
there is no current requirement for an internal audit
function. The procedures that have been established
to provide internal financial control are considered
appropriate for @ Company of its size and include
controls over expenditure, regular reconciliations and
management accounts.

The Directors are responsible for taking such steps

as are reasonably available to them 1o safeguard the
assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

Remuneration

A Remuneration Committee was established during
2019 and is made up of the two non-executive
directors. Remuneration paid to Directors in the
period under review is disclosed in the Directors’
Remuneration Report.

Nomination

Currently due to the size of the Company there is no
Nomination Committee.

Shareholder relations

Communication and dialogue - Open and transparent
cammunication with shareholders is given high priority
and there is regular dialogue with institutional investors,
as well as general presentations made at the time of the
release of the annual and interim results. All Directors
are kept aware of changes in majcr shareholders in the
Company and are available to meet with shareholders
who have specific interests or concerns. The Company
issues its results promptly to individual shareholders
and also publlshes them on the Company’s website:

Loy s oRe L v Regular updates to
record news in relation to the Company are included
on the Company’s website. Shareholders and other
interested parties can subscribe to receive these news
updates by email by registering online on the website
free of charge.

The Birectors are available to meet with institutional
shareholders to discuss any issues and gain an
understanding of the Company’s business, its strategies
and governance. Meetings are also held with the
corporate governance representatives of institutional
investors when requested.

Annual General Meeting - At an AGM individual
shareholders are normally given the cpportunity to
put questions to the Chairman and (o other members
of the Board that may be present although, due to
the COVID-19 pandemic, physical attendance at the
AGM is not possible in 2020, Notice of the AGM is
sent to shareholders at least 21 werking days before
the meeting. Details of proxy votes for and against
each resolution, together with the votes withheld
are announced to the London Stock Exchange and
are published on the Company's website as scon as
practical after the meeting,

s

Gati Al-jebouri
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
26 june 2020



Directors’ Remuneration Report

During 2019 the Company put in place a remuneration committee comprising its two non-executive directors.
The items included in this report are unaudited unless otherwise statad.

Statement of Pembridge Resources Pl¢'s policy on Directors’ remuneration

The Company's policy is to maintain ievels of remuneration so as to attract, motivate, and retain Directors and Senior
Executives of the highest calibre who can contribute their experience to deliver industry leading performance with the
Company's operations. Currently Director’s remuneration is not subject to specific performance targets.

In future periods the Company intends to implement a remuneration policy so that a meaningful proportion of
Executive and Senior Management's remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual
performance, align their interests with those of shareholders and te incentivise them to perform at the highest levels.
No Director takes part in any decision directly affecting their own remuneration.

Directors’ remuneration

The Directors who held office at 31 December 2019 and who had beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the
Cempany are summarised as follows:

Name of Director Position No.of shares heid
Gati Al-Jebouri Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 11,348,859
Francis McAllister Non-Executive Director 32451419
Guy Le Bel Non-Executive Director 2,823,545

The Directors entered into service agreements at the time of the Company's admission to the main market in August
2018. Mr. Al-Jebouri entered into an new service agreement when he became Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
on 19 September 2019, Details of Directors’ emoluments and of payments made for professional services rendered
are set out below.

Remuneration compaonents

For the year ended 31 December 2019 salaries and fees, bonuses and share based payments were the main
components of remuneration, with health insurance also for the Chief Executive Cfficer and redundancy pay for the
outgoing Chief Executive Officer. This is expected to continue in 2020,

- Salaries and fees
+ Bonus

+ Redundancy pay
* Health insurance
- Pensions

* Share Incentive arrangements
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Directors’ emoluments and compensation {audited)
Set out below are the emoluments of the Directars for the year ended 31 December 2019:

Share based Health  Redundancy
Fees Bonus payments insurance Pay Total
2019 Us$'000 uUss$ 000 Us$'000 uss$000 Uss0o0 Uss000
Francis McAllister - - - -
David Charles Linsley 155 501 - 13 483 1,152
Gati Al-jebouri 91 5 - 3 - 595
Guy Le Bel - 250 - - - 250
Total 246 1,252 - 16 483 1,997
Share based Health  Redundancy
Fees Bonus payments insurance Pay Total
2018 Uss$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Uss'000 Uss000 Us%'000
Francis McAllister - - - - -
David Charles Linsley 419 - - - - 419
Gati Al-Jebouri - - - -
Guy Le Bel - - -
Total 419 - - - - 419

Directors beneficial share interests {(audited)

The interests of the Directors who served during the year in the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2019
and at the date of this report or their resignaticn (if earlier) were as foliows:

Number of As at the date Number of

ordinary shares of this report Number of share aptions /

heid at (D Linsley at date options / warrants vested

Name of Director 31 December 2019 of resignation) warrants but unexercised
Francis McAllister 3,457,419 4,663,540 1,750,000 900,000
David Linsley 3,298,968 375000 - -
Guy Le Bel 2,823,545 2,823,545 1,750,000 900,000
Gati Al-lebouri 11,348,855 15,418,754 4,230,000 500,000

In addition to the above, during the year the Company entered into a convertible lcan agreement of £1,700,000 with
Gati Al-Jebouri, repayable on 25 October 2021. At any time prior to that date Mr. Al-Jebouri may elect to convert all or
part of the convertible loan into ordinary shares in the Company at 12.5 pence per share, pravided that such election
would not place Mr. Al-Jebouri's shareholding above 29.9% of the total issued share capital of the Company.



Directors’ Remuneration Report

Total pension entitlements (audited)
The Company currently has a statutory workplace pension scheme in place but did not pay pension amounts in
relation to any Directors.

The Company has not paid out any excess retirement benefits to any Directors cr past Directors.

Payments te past Directors (audited)
The Cempany has not paid any compensation to past Directors.

Payments for loss of office (audited)
Payments were made to David Linsley for loss of office during the year.

Consideration of shareholder views

The Board considers shareholder feedback received and guidance from shareholder bodies. This feedback,
pius any additional feedback received from time to time, is considered as part of the Company's annual pclicy
on remuneraticn.

Policy for new appointments

Base salary levels will take into account market data for the relevant role, internal relativities, the individual's
experience and their current base salary. Where an individual is recruited at below market norms, they may be
re-aligned over time {e.g. two to three years), subject to performance in the role. Benefits will generally be in
accordance with the approved policy.

For external and internal appointments, the Board may agree that the Company will meet certain relocation and/cr
incidental expenses as appropriate.
Policy on payment for loss of office

Payment for |oss of office would be determined by the remuneration committee onge appointed, taking Into account
contractual obligations.

Other matters

The Company does not currently have any annual or long-term incentive schemes in place for any of the Directors
and as such there are no disclosures in this respect,

Approved on behalf of the Board

s

Gati Al-Jebouri
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
26 June 2020
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Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsibie for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accaerdance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have elected to prepare the Group and Company Financial Statements in accordance with Internaticnal
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Eurcpean Union and as regards the Company Financial
Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. Under Company law the
Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Greoup and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for that period.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

© state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject tc any material
departures discdosed and explained in the Financial Statements; and

© prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Group's and Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements and the Directors’ Remuneration
Report comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group Financial Staterments,
Article 4 of the I1AS Regulation. They are alsc responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Cempany and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Website publication

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the
Financial Statements may differ from legistation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement Pursuant to Disclosure and Transparency Rules

Each of the Directers, whose names and functions are listed on page 9, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge
and belief:

- the Financial Statements prepared in accordance with [FRSs as adopted by the European Union give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Group and Company; and

- the annual report and Financial Statements, including the Business review, includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the positicn of the Group and Company, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.



Independent Auditor’'s Report to the
Members of Pembridge Resources Plc

We have audited the Financial Statements of Pembridge Resources pl¢ (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (together
the ‘Group) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Consclidated and Company Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated and Company Statements
of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and notes to the Financial Statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied

in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and as regards the Company Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006,

In our opinion, the Financial Statements:

© give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and Company's affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the
Group's and Company's loss for the year then ended;

- of the Group have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

- of the Company have been properly prepared in accordance with iFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as
applied in accardance with the requirements cf the Companies Act 2006; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS regulation.

Basis for opinion

We conducted cur audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report, We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Statements in the UK, including the FRC's
Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 in the Financial Statements which details the Company is dependent on raising additionai
financing to enable it te continue as a going concern. This condition, along with the other matters referred to in note
2 to include the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our opinion is not madified in respect of this matter.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of Pembridge Resources Plc

Our application of materiality

Materiality 2019 Materiality 2018 Basis for materiality

Group - $660,000 Group - $90,000 Average of 4% of net assels and 7% of loss before tax. The change ir
materiality for 2019 reflects the acquisition of Minto Explorations Ltd.

Company - $130,000 Company - $30,000 2% of total expenses

Materiality is a key concept in the context of an audit. In providing an opinion on whether the financial staternents
provide a ‘true and fair' view, we are providing an opinion on whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.,

Materiality is an expression of the relative significance of a particular matter in the context of the financial statements
as a whole. Anitem, either individually or in aggregate, is considered material if omitting it or misstating it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that users make on the basis of an entity's financial statements.
Materiality has both quantitative and qualitative characteristics. It depends on the size or nature of the item or error
judged in the particular circumstances of its omission or misstatement.

Our calcuiated materiality has significantly increased from the previcus year. This is predominantly due to the change
in group structure following the acquisition of Minto Explorations Limited during the year resuiting in a higher net
asset value and loss before tax for the enlarged Group. Following the acquisition of Minto Explorations Limited, we
consider that net assets and loss before tax are the maest significant determinant of the group's financial position and
performance used by shareholders.

Whilst matertality for the financial statements as a whole was set at $660,000, companent materiality was set at a level
between $130,000 for the parent company and CAD$400,000 (USD equivalent approximately $308,000} for Minto
Explerations Limited, with performance materiality set between 70% and 75%. We applied the concept of materiality
both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements.

We agreed with the audit committee that we would repaort to the committee all audit differences identified durng
the course of our audit in excess of $33,000 (2C18: $4,500). There were certain misstatemeants identified during the
course of our audit that were individually considered to be material and adjusted for by management.

An overview of the scope of our audit

In designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the Financial
Staterments. {n particular, we looked at areas involving significant accounting estimates and judgement by the
Directors and considered future events that are inherently uncertain. We also addressed the risk of management
override of interna! controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

An audit was performed on the financial information of the Group's significant cperating components which, for the
year ended 31 December 2019, were located in the United Kingdom and Canada.

The significant and material Canadian component was audited by a component auditor under our instruction. There
was regular interaction with the component auditor during all stages cf the audit, and we were responsible for the
scope and direction of their audit process.

We performed a remcte review of the compoenent audit file prepared by the auditor of Minto Explorations Limited,
including the work performed on the significant risks identified at group level. The compenent auditer also provided
their findings te us which were reviewed and challenged accordingly.

This gave us sufficient appropriate evidence for our opinian on the Group financial statements,



Independent Auditor’'s Report to the
Members of Pembridge Resources Plc

Key audit matters

Key audit marters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of maost significance in our audit of the
Financial Statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and cirecting the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinions thereon, and we do not pravide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

Acquisition accounting of Minte Explorations Limited
under IFRS 3 (note 26)

Minto Explorations Limited was acquired on 3 june 2019,

This gave rise to the following key areas for consideration:

1. Fair value measurement of assets and habilities of
Minto Explorations Limited, including non-controlling
interest. An independent expert has undertaken the
Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) exercise.

2. The accounting treatment on consalidation of the
recognition of a nan-centrolling interest in line with
the Investor Agreement, including consideration
of the substance of the arrangement bzased on
economic interest and voting rights of the parties
involved.

3. The treatment of the purchase censideration totaling
up to $20millien, which contains deferred and
contingent glements. The contingent elements are
dependent on meeting future production milestones
and on future copper prices spanning a pericd of
up to three years foliowing recommencement of

cemmercial producton. This is therefore a key area of

managament judgement.

Carrying value and assessment of impairment of
producing mineral properties, mineral exploration and
development properties, CIP and property, plant and
equipment (note 15)

Future profitability of the Minto Mine is sensitive 1o
copper market prices and the success of exploration
activinies in order 1o Increase resources / reserves.
Management's assessment of impairment indicators, and
estimation of value in use, will involve cash flow forecasts
and assumptions which are inherently judgmental and
potentigily sensitive ta reasonably possible change.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Qur work included but was not restricted to:

* Review of the key contractual agreements and terms entered nto

in connection with the acquisition of Minto Explorations Lirmited, 1o
Include in particular the Share Purchase Agreement with Capstone
Mining Corp. and the Shareholders' Agreement;

» Discussions by the audit tearmn with the preparer of the PPA report

to obtain an understanding of the methods and assumputicons used
within the report, including compliance with the requirements of
IFRS 3 and IFRS 13;

- Review of, and providing challenge to, key assumptions and

methods included within the PPA exercise by Management
and Management's expert. Where applicable, we undertook
corroborative procedures on the underlying key assumptions
including benchmarking data;

- Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

preparer of the PPA report; and

* Discussion with Management on the basis for calculating the

deferred and contingent elements of the purchase censideration
and ensuring the rationale is in accordance with the mine plan
and IFRS.

Qur work included but was not restricted to:

- Review of the work undertaken by the component auditor in this

area with regard to the carrying values in the individual financial
statements of Minto;

« Performed an independent assessment 1o identify any indicatars

of impairment;

+ Reviewing the Independently assessed mine plan in order to

understand the factors underlying the long term viability of the
mine; and

- Review of Management's impairment considerations at group level

{incorporating PPA adjustments) including challenge of judgements
and estimates therein.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of Pembridge Resources Plc

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the Financial Statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The Directers are respeonsible for the other information. Our opinien on the

Group and Company Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, In connection with

our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsitility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the Financial
Statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are reguired to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard,

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

* the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’' Report for the financial year for which the Financial
Statements are prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements; and

© the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

tn the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group ang Company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report,
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

© adequate accounting records have not been kepl, or returns adequate for our audit have not been recewved from
branches not visited by us; or

* the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

+ certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the Group and parent Company Financial Staterments and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and
for such internal control as the Directars determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Group and Company Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
and Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related ta going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liguidate the Group or parent
Company or to cease operations, or have ne realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the
Members of Pembridge Resources Plc

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are 10 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from
materal misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes cur opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accardance
with 15As (UK) wilt always detect @ material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken cn the basis of these Financia! Statements.

A further description of our respensibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council's website at: www.frc.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report,

Other matters which we are required to address

We were appointed by the Board of Directors on 10 February 2018 to audit the Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2017. Our total uninterrupted period of engagement is three years, covering the year ended
31 December 2019.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard ware not provided to the Group or parent Company
and we remain independent of the Group and Company in conducting cur audit,

As part of our audit procedures, we gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the
Company and consic¢ereo the risk of acts by the Company which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations,
including fraud. We designed audit procedures to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting a
material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations or through collusion, Qur tests
included making enguiries of management, as well as inspecting underlying supporting documentaticn and calculations.

We also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was
evidence of bias by the Directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. Procedures designed
and executed to address these risks included the review and testing of journal entries during the period, testing and
evaluating management's key accounting estimates for reasonableness and consistency, review of transactions through
the bank statements, and undertaking cut-off procedures to verify proper cut-off of expenses.

Cur audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.

Use of our report

This report is made sotely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditer's report and for no other purpose. Te the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone, other than the Company and the Company's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opiniens we have formed.

oG

David Thompson 15 Westferry Circus
{Senior statutory auditor) Canary Wharf
For and on behalf of PKF Littlejohn LLP Ltondon E14 4HD

Statutory auditor

26 June 2020
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

~or the vear ended 31 Docomber 2019

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Naote LS%$'000 US$'000
Revenue from contracts with customers 7 12,398
Production ¢osts (14,739
Royaites 1204)
Depreciation and amartisation (3,459) _
Administrative, legal and professional expenses {3.110; (3.829)
Exceptional items
- acquisition and re-admission costs 8 {2,347)
Foreign exchange gain / (loss) (357
Operating loss 8 (11,818) (3,829)
Finance income
Finance cost 12 {1,295} -
Loss hefore income tax (13,113 {3,829)
Income tax 13 26
Loss for the year (13,087) {3,829)
Other comprehensive income 936 B
Total comprehensive income for the year {12,151) {3.829)
Loss is attributable to:
Non-controlling interest (5.024)
Shareholders of the Company (8,063} {(3.825)
Loss for the year (13,087) (3,829)
Total comprehensive income is attributable to:
Non-controlling interest {4,400}
Shareholders cf the Company (7,751} {3,829}
Total comprehensive income for the year (12,151) (3.829)
Year ended Year ended
Earnings per share expressed in US cents 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Bastc and diluted loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company 14 (33 5¢) (17.1¢)

All armounts relate to continuing activities.

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

s oot B Decombier 20149

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Long-term deposits
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Nan-Current liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Reclamation and Closure cost provisfon
Deferred consideration due to Capsrone
Deferred tax liabilities
Total nen-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Lease habilities
Deferred consideration due to Capstane
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)

Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Capital redemption reserve
Translaticn reserve
Other reserve
Retained deficit

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Note

15
16
18

17
18
19

23
21
22
32
13

20
23
27
32

24
24

27

31 December 2015
US$'000

50,207
394
4,040
54,641

5710
8610
964
15,284
69,925

(10,637
(2,734)
(22,438;
(4,305)
(270)
(40.378)
(8,736}

(2.899)
(4.897)
(16,532;
{56,910)
13,015

825
8,900
1,011

312

369

(13.465)
(2,048)
15,063
13,015

31 December 2018
US%'000

15
148

240
151
351
554

(103}

(103)

(1.831)
(27%)

(2,110}
(2,213)
(1,659)

265
2,902
1.011

66
(5933}

(1,659)

(1,659)

The Financial Statemerits were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 26 june 2020 and signed on behalf of the Board by

Gati Al-Jebouri

f/ Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company statement of financial position
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Registoreo prmber o O 407000
Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15
Investrment In subsidiary 31
Long-term deposits 18
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and cther receivables 18
Cash and cash equivalents 19
Total current assets
Total assets
Nen-Current liabilities
Borrowings 23
Deferred consideration due to Capstone 32
Total non-current liabilites
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20
Borrowings 23
Deferred consideration due to Capstone 32
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net liabilities
Equity
Share capital 24
Share premium 24

Capial redemption reserve

Other reserve
Retained deficit

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

31 December
2019
US$'000

3
9,202
1,517

10,722

1,450
399
1,889
12,611

(2,045
(4.305)
(6,354)

(1.738;

(4,897)
{6,635}

(12,989)
(378)

825
8,900
1.011

369

(11,483)
{(378)

31 December
2018
UsS$'000

(103

(103)

(1.8310)
(279)

(2.110)
(2,213)
(1,654)

295
2.902
1,011

66

(5,928)

(1,654)

The Cempany has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own
statement of comprehensive mcome in these Financial Statements. The Company's loss for the period amounted 1o $5,555,000 (2018

$3,824,000 loss).

The Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 26 June 202G and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Gati Al-jebouri
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

v

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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Balance at 1 January 2018
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive
income for the year

Total comprehensive
incorne for the year

Cancellation of deferred shares
Warrants expired

Total transactions with owners
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2018

Balance at 1 January 2019
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
—itens that may be reclassified
subseguently to profit or loss

Exchange difference on translation

Total comprehensive
income for the year

Proceeds from shares issued
Direct cost of shares issued
Equity elerment of convertible loan

Investment by non-cantrolting
interest in Minto share capital

Non-controlling interest on
acquisition of subsidiary

Share-based payments

Total transactions with owners
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2019

Share Share

capitat premium
US$'000  US$'000

1,306 2,902

(1,011
(1,011)
295 2,902
295 2,902
530 6,109
a1
530 5,998
825 8,900

P Docomeor 20,59

Capitai Translation/

redemption
reserve
Us$'000

1011

1,017

1,011

1,011

1.011

Other
reserve
U5%$000

165

(99)

(99

66

66

312

312

>3

250

303

681

Retained
deficit
USss$000

(2,203)
(3.829)

(3,829}

99
S9

(5,933)

(5,933)
{8.063)

(8,063)

531

531

(13,465)

Total
Uss$000

2,170

(3.829)

(1,659)

(1,659)
(8,063}

312
(7,751)

6,639
{111}
53

250
7,362

(2,048)

Non-
controlling
interest
us$000

(5.024)

624

(1,100}

1,059

18,404

19,463

15,063

Total
Equity
Us$'000

2,170
(3,829)

(3,829}

{1,659)

(1,659)
(13087}

936
(12,15M)

6,639
(111)
53

1.580

18,404
250
26,825

13,015
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Company statement ol changes in equity

For the vear ended 31 Docombor 2019

Share Share Capital Other Retained Total

capital premium redemption reserve deficit

reserve
Us$'000 US$'000 usgo00 us$000 uss'qee ussa0o
Balance at 1 January 2018 1,306 2,902 - 165 (2,.203) 2,170
Loss for the year - - - - (3.824) {3,824}
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (3,824} {3.824)

warrants expired - - - {99) 99

Fecogess Grectly 1 auty o : 1011 (99) %
Balance at 31 December 2018 295 2,902 1,011 66 {5.928) (1,654)
Balance at 1 January 2019 295 2,902 1,011 66 (5,928} (1,654)
iLoss for the year - - - - {5,555) (5,555}

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - {5,555} {5,555}
Proceeds from shares issued 530 6,109 - - - 6,639
Direct cost of shares issued - (111) - - - (1171}
Equity element of convertible loan - - - 53 - 53
Share based payments - - - 250 - 250
S S
Balance at 31 December 2019 825 8,900 1,011 369 (11,483) {378)

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within Group and Company owners’ equity:

Reserve Description and purpose
Share capital Nominal value of shares 1ssued.
Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value, less share 1ssue costs.

Capital redemption reserve  Reserve created on cancellation of deferred shares.

Other reserve Cumulative fair value of warrants and share options granted, together with the equity element of the
convertible loan.

Translation reserve Cumulative translation adjustment from retranslation of group undertakings with functional currencies other
than USD.

Retained deficit Curnulative net gains and losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Nan-controlling interest Non-cantrolling interests reprasent the portion of the equity of a subsidiary not attributable either directly

or indirectly to the parent company and are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of
comprehensive income and within equity in the Consalidated starement of financial position, distinguished
from parent company shareholders’ equity.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

—or e vear ended 51 Decembor 20109

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
LOSS for the year
Adjusted for:
Net finance costs
Unrealised FX on debt included in administrative expenses
Depreciation
Tax charge / (credit)
Share based payments
Movements in working capital
Decrease / (increase} in inventories
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase / {decrease) in trade and other payables
Cash used by aperations
Income taxes recovered / (paid}
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments into long-term depaosits
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of mining ¢laims
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest payments
Repayment of borrowings
Proceeds from borrowings
Lease payments
Proceeds from issuance of shares
Net cash generated from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Impact of exchange rates on cash balances
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19

Tre nates form an integra! part of these financial statermnents,

Year Ended
31 December
2019

US3$'000

(13,087)

(8,278)

(3.248)
(8.252)
6,752
{13,026)

{13,026)

(490}
{237}
(2,309)

(497)
(647)
10,754
(1,621}
8,149
12,974
803
=
10
964

Year Ended
31 December
2018
US$'000

(3,829

(3.824)

(344
1,928
(2,240)

{2,240)

(18)

{18)

382

382
(1,876)
2,027

151
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Company cash {low statement
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Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year

Adjusted for:

Net finance costs

Depreciation

Tax charge /{credit}

Share based payments

Movements In working capital

Decrease / (increase) In trade and other receivabies
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables
Cash used by operations

Income taxes recovered / (paid)

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments into long-term deposits
Disposal/f{purchase) of property, plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

interast payments

Repayment of horrowings

Proceeds from borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of shares

Net cash generated from financing activities
Net increase in ¢ash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Year Ended

31 December

2019

Note USs'000

{5,555}

160

250
{5,138)

(1,147]
(93)
(6,378)

(6,378}

(1,518)
5
{1.513)

(60
(647)
2318
6,528
6,621
243
151

19 399

Year Ended
31 December
2018

Us$'000

(3,824)

{3,8319)

40}
1,618
(2.241)

(2,241)

{18)
(18)

383
(1,876)
2,027
151
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Notes to the Financial Statements

N

For the vear ended 31 Doecombor 2019

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is to operate as a mining fecused holding Company. The Company bas an investment i the Minto
copper-gold-silver mine in Yukon, Canada.

Pembridge Resources Pl¢ s incorporated and domiciled in England. The address of the Company's registered office is 200 Strand, London,
WCZ2R 1DJ. Pembridge Resources PIc's shares are listed on the Standard Segment of the Official List of the London Stock Exchange.

The Group's Financial Statements are presented in United States dollars (US$), which is also the functional currency of the Company, and
rounded to the nearest thousand,

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and IFRIC
interpretations (IFRS IC) as adopted by the European Union, and with the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under
IFRS. The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as modified for assets and liabilities
recognised at fair value on a business combination and contingent consideration measured at fair value.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with 1FRS requires the use of certam critical accounung estimates. It also requnes
management to exercise its judgementin the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Financial Statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Going concern

The Financial Statements have been prepared an a gaing concern basis. In assessing whether the going concarn assumplion is
appropriate, the Directors have taken into account all relevant avallable information about the current and future position of the Group
and Company, including the current and future level of resources. As part of their assessment, the Directors have also taken into account
the need for the Company 10 raise eddinonal funding during the going concern period. Further funding will be required by the Company
either through equity raisings or other financial arrangements and this additional funding 1s not guaranteed, however 1o date the
Company has been successful in securing funding when required.

The Company has no income stream of its own and is reliant, until it is abte to receve an income from its Investment in Minto, on funding
from equity and loans. The company is in the process of obtaining such funding and its management are confident that it can meet

its contracted and committed expenditure for at least the next 12 months. Minto has recewved commitments from s other investors,
Cedro Holdings and Copper Holdings, they will support its operations for at least the next 12 months. The need for the Company (¢
raise adaitional funds at the required amount during the going concern period indicates that a material uncertainty exists which may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore 1ts ability to settle its debts and realise 115 assets
In the normal course of business.

At present the Group believes that there should be no significant material disruption to 1ts mining operations from COVID-19, but the
Board continues to monitor these risks and Minto's business continuity plans.

Having prepared forecasts based on current resources, assessing methods of obtaiming additional finance and assessng the possible
impact of COVID-19, the Directors believe the Group and Company have sufficient resources to meet its obiigations for a period of 12
months from the date of approval of these Financial Statements. Taking these matters inte consideration, the Directors continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these Financial Statements. The Financial Statements do not include the adjustments
that would be required should the going concern basis of preparation no longer be appropriate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For thoe voor onded 31 Docombor 2000

3. STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET APPLIED BY THE COMPANY

3.1 New and amended standards mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 fjanuary 2019
The following new IFRS standards and/or amendments to iFRS standards are mandatory for the first time for the Campany and Group

Standard Effective date
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
IAS 28 (Amendments) Long term interests in associates and joint ventures 1January 2019
Annual Improvements 2015 - 2017 Cycle 1 January 2019
IAS 19 (Amendments) Employee Benefits 1 January 2315
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments T anuary 201G

The Group adopted IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019, At that date the Group had no leases and Minto had no leases at the date of
acquisition, so there has not been a transition process in adopting IFRS 16, Minto has since entered into a number of leases, which have
been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16.

The adoption of the other standards and amendments has not had a material impact on the financial statements other than changes
to disclosures.

3.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
adopted early by the Group or Company

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the darte of issuance of the financial statements are hsted

below. The Group and Company intend to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

Standard Effective date
IFRS 3 (Amendments) Business Combinaticns 1 January 2020*
IAS T (Amendments) Presentation of Financial Statements T January 2020*
IAS & (Amendments) Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 1 January 2020%

*Not yet endorsed by the EU.

The Company and Group are evaluating the impact of the new and amended standards above. The Directors believe that these new and
amended standards are not expected t¢ have a material impact on the Company's and Group's results or shareholders' funds.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SCURCLES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Irthe application of the Group's accounting policies, descnbed in Note 5, the Directors are reguired 1o make judgments, estmates and
assumnpuens about the carrying amounts of asseis and hiabihties that are not readily apparent from other spurces Tre gsimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may aiffer
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions 1o accounting estimates are recognised in the
penod in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical jJudgments exercised in applying accounting policies, apart fram those involving estimates, that have the most sigrificant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows;

Economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits of mineral exploration, evaluation and development costs

The Company has determined that exploratory drilling, evaluation, development, and related costs incurred, which were capitalised, have
future economc benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgment, the Company has assessed various sources of
information including, but not limited to, the geclogic and metaliurgic nformation, history of conversian of mineral deposis to proven and
probable reserves, scoping and feasibility studies, proximity to existing ore bodies, existing permits, and life of mine plans.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are designated upon inception to various classifications. The designation determines the methad by which the
financial Instruments are carried on the balance sheet subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. The designation may
require the Company ta make certain judgments, taking into account management’s intention of the use of the financal Instruments.

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than o majority of voting rights / econgmic interest

The Company considers that, although it has an economic interest of less than 50% in Minta's results and net assets, It has control over Minto
through holding 100% of voting rights and having contrel of the Minto Board, which means that it is able to control the day-to-day operations
of the mine.

The following are the critical estirnates that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have
the most significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements.

Estimated reclamation and closure costs

The Group’s provision for rectamation and closure cost obligations represents management's best estimate of the present value of the future
cash outflows required to settle the liability. The provision reflects estimates of future costs directly attnbutable 1o remediating the liability,
inflation, movements in foreign exchange rates and assumptions of risks associated with the future cash outflows, and the applicable risk-free
interest rates for discounting future cash outflows. Changes in the factors above can result in a change to the pravision recognised by the
Group. Tothe extent the carrying value of the related mining property is not increased above its recoverable amount, changes to reclamation
and closure cost obligations are recorded with a corresponding change to the carrying amounts of related mining properties.

income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based cn differences between the financial statement carrying values of assets and
liablitties and their respective income tax bases ("temporary differences”), and losses carried forward. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be avallable against which the losses can be utilised.

The determination of the ability of the Group and Company to utilise tax loss carry-forwards to offset deferred tax liabilities requires
rmanagement to exercise judgment and make certain assumptions about the future performance of the Group and Company.
Management Is required to assess whether it is probable that the Group and Campany will benefit from these prior losses and other
deferred tax assets. The tax rates expected tc be in effect when temporary differences reverse is 27%. Changes in economic cenditions,
metai prices and other factors could resultin revisions to the estimates of the benefits to be realised or the timing of utilizing the losses

Minerol reserve and resource estimates

The figures for mineral reserves and mineral resources are determined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101, “Standards

of Disclosure for Mineral Projects”, issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators. There are numercus uncertainties Inherent in
estimating mineral reserves and mineral rescurces, including many factors beyond the Group's contrel. Such estimation s a subjective
process, and the accuracy of any mineral reserve or mineral resource estimate is a function of the quantity and quality of available data
and of the assumptions made and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation. Differences between managements
assumptions, including economic assumptions such as metal prices, and the market conditions could have a material effect in the future
on the Group's financial position and results of operation. Such differences could increase or decrease the mine’s revenues and may
affect the rate of depreciation for mineral properties and of other fixed assets whose useful life 1s determined by the amount of reserves.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCLES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY {(contimuedi)

Estimated permitted reserves

The carrying amounts of the Group's producing mining properties are depleted based on permitted reserves Changes 1o estimates of
permitied reserves and depletable costs including changes resulting from revisions to tne Group's mine plans and changes in metal price
forecasts can result in a change to future depletion rates,

Depreciation and amortisation rate for property, plant and equipment and depletion rates for mining interests

Depletion, depreciation, and amartisation expenses are allocated based on estimated asset lives. Should the asset Iife, depletion rates, or
deprecation rates differ from the initial estimate, an adjustment would be made in the statement of {I0ss) / income on a prospecuve basis,

Impairment of mineral properties, plant and equipment

Management considers both external and internal sources of information in assessing whether there are any indications that the Group's
mineral properties, plant and equipment are impaired and whether previcusly recorded impairments should be reversea. External
sources of infermation management considers include changes in the market, economic and legal envirenment in which the Groun
operates that are not within its control and affect the recoverable amount of its mineral properues, plant and equipment internal scurces
of information that management considers include the manner in which mineral properties, plant and equipment are being used or are
expected to be used and indicaticns of economic performance of the assets.

In determining the recoverable amounts of the Group's mineral properties, plant and equipment, management makes estimates of the
future operating resuits and discounted net cash flows expected to be derived from the Group’s mining properties, costs to sell the mining
properties and the appropriate discount rate. Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of production,
increases in estimated future non-expansionary capital expenditures, reductions in the amount of recoverable mineral reserves, mineral
resources, and exploration potential, and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the carrying amounts of the Group's
mineral properties, plant and equipment.

Inventory valuation

Consumable parts and supplies, ore stockpiles and concentrates, are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Estimates in
the carrying values of inventories arise due to the nature of the valuation of ore stackpiles and concentrates based on an appropriate
allocation of direct mining costs, direct labour and material costs, mine site overhead, and depletion and amortization

Valuation of financiol instruments, including estimates used in provisional pricing calculations

Financial instrument estimates are based on either unadjusted guoted prices in active markets or direct or indirect observable inputs in
accordance with the definitons of the financial instruments. Provisional pricing calculations are determined based on the change in the
value of forward commodity prices of metals. To account for the change in metal prices from the total contract value to the 90% of the
provisional value amount that has been received, estimates of the value of concentrates are used to determine the provisionally priced
concentrate receivables at each period.

Share based payments

Estimating fair value for share based payment transactions requires determination of the most appropriate valuation model, which is
dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant of share options and warrants. This estimate aiso requires determination of the most
apprapriate inputs to the valuation mode! including the expected life, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.
The assumptions used for estimating fair value for share based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 25.

Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration, resulting from pusiness combmations, is vatued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business
combination. The determination of fair value 1s based on key assumptions involving estimation of the probability of meeting each
performance target and the timing thereof. As part of the acquisition of Minto, contingent consideration with an estimated fair value of
US$5,202,000 was recognised at the acquisition date. See Note 26 for further details. The Group is required to remeasure the contingent
liability at fair value at each reportung date with changes in fair value recognised in accordance with IFRS 9.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation and Business combinations

The consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the company and 1ts subsidiaries as at 21 December 2019
Control s achieved when the Group 1s exposed, ¢r has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the abil-ty
10 affect those returns through its power aver the investee, Specifically, the Group controls an investee if the Group has:

() Power over the investee i.e existing rights that give it the current ability 1o direct the relevant activities of the investee
(i} Exposure, or rights to, variable returns from sts involvement with the investee

(i) The ability to use its power aver the investee 1o affect its returns

Generally there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
or similar nghts of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and ¢ircumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(1) The contractual arrangements with the other vote nolders of the investee
(i} Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

(1) The Group's votuing nghts and potential nghts

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when a Group obtains control over a subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income (QC)) are attributed to the equity holders of the Company
and (¢ the non-contrelling interest, even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-
group assets and liabilives, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consoelidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire.
Acguisition related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. Identifiable assers acquired and liabilities

and contingent habilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their farr values at the
acguisition date,

Any contingent consideration te be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as a liability and within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Reporting foreign currency transactions in functional currency

In preparing the Financial Statements, transactions In currencies other than the entity's functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing on the reporting date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated In foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevalling at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation from functional currency to presentational currency

When the functional currency of a Group entity is different from the Group's presentational currency (US dollars), its resuits and financia
position are translated into the presentational currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.

{i) Income and expense items are translated at average exchange rates for the year, except where the use of such average rates does
not approximate the exchange rate at the date of a specific transacuon, in which case the transaction rate is used.

{i) All resulting exchange cdifferences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented 1n the transiation reserve in
equity and are reclassified to profit or loss In the peniod in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Inventories

Inventories for consumable parts and supplies, ore stockpiles and concentrates, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs ailocated to consumable parts and supplies are based on average costs and include all costs of purchase, conversion and
other costs in bringing these inventories to their existing location and condition. Costs allocated to cre stockpiies and concentrates are
based on average costs, which include an appropriate share of direct mining costs, direct labour and material costs, mine site overhead,
depreciation and amortisation. If carrying value exceeds net realisable amount, a write down is recognised. The write down may be
reversed in a subsequent period if the circumstances which caused it no longer exist.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Mineral properties, plant and equipment

Title to mineral properties involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining the validity of certain clainrs as well as the
potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing historical characteristic of many properties. The Group has
investigated title to all of its mineral properties and, to the best of its knowledge, ttle to all of its propertes 15 in good standing.

Producing mineral properties

Producing mineral properties are recorded at cost less accumulated depletion and impairment charges. Thne costs associated with
producing mineral properties inctude acquired interests in production stage properties representing the fair value at the tme they were
acquired. Producing mineral properties also include additional capitalised costs after initial acguisition. Upon sale or abandonment of
producing mineral properties, the carrying value is derecognised and any gains or losses theregn are included in the statement of Income
/ {loss).

Mineral exploration and development properties
The carrying amount ¢f mineral exploration and development properties comprise costs that are directly attributable 1o

researching and analysing existing exploration data;
conducting geological studies, exploratory driiling and sampling;
examining and testing extraction and treatment methaods; and

+ actwvities in relation to evaluating the techricat feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource,

The costs assaciated with mineral exploration and development properties include acquired interests in development and explaration
slage properties representing the fair value at the time they were acguired. Mineral exploration and development properues related to
greenfield properties, which are prospective in nature and not yet supported by an intarnal economic assessment, are expensed in the
staternent of {loss) / income, except for acquisition costs and mining interest rights. Exploration and developrment expenses related to
brownfield mineral properties are capitalised provided that one of the following conditions is met:

Such costs are expected to be recouped in full through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest or
alternatively, by its sale; or

Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of
the existence of economically recoverable reserves, however active and significant operations in relation to the area are contnuing,
or ptanned for the future.

The carrying values of capitalised amounts of mineral exploration and development properties are reviewed when there are indicators
of impairment at each reporting date. In the case of undeveloped projects, there may be only inferred mineral resources ta allow
management to form a basis for the impairment review. The review Is based on the Company's intentions for development of such a
project. If a project does not prove viable, all unrecoverable costs associated with the project are charged to profit or loss at the time the
determination is made.

Once management has determined that the development potential of the property is economically viable and the necessary permuts are in
place for its development, the costs of the exploration asset are reclassified to producing mineral properties.

Plant and equipment

Plant and eguipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Plant and eguipment includes in its
purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing plant and equpment to the location and condition necessary for 1t to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management and the estimated close down and restoration costs assocated with dismantling
and removing the asset. Upon sale or abandonment of any pfant and/or equipment, the cost and related accumulated amortization and
impairment losses, are written off and any gains or losses therean are included in profit or loss.
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S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Construction in progress

Mineral property development and plant and equipment construction commencas when approved by management and/or the Board
and the Company has obtained all regulatery permissions to proceed. Development and construction expenditures are capirahised and
classified &5 construction in progress. Once completed, the costs associated with all applicable assets related o the development and
construction are reclassified to the appropriate category within mineral properties or plant and equipment

Depreciation and amortisation of mineral properties, plant and equipment

The carrying amounts of mineral properties, plant and equipment are depreciated or amortised to their estimated residual value over the
estumated economic life of the specific assets 1o which they relate, using the depreciation or amorusation methods and rates as indicated
below. Estimates of residual values and useful lives are reassessed annually and any change in estimate is taken Into account in the
determmnanion of the remaining amortisation rate. Amortisaticn commences on the date the asset is available for ts use as intended

by management.

Depreciaticn and amortisation is computed using the foliowing rates:

Item Methods Rates

Mineral properties Units of production Estimated proven, probable and permitted mineral reserves
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles  Straight ine, units of production 4 - 10 years, Estimated proven and probable mineral reserves

Right of use assets under leases - Straight line Lesser of lease term and estimated useful life
plant and equipment

Impairment of long-lived assets

AL each reporting date, the Group and Company review the carrying amounts of its assets (o determine whether there are any indicators
of impairment. If any such indicator exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment, if any.

Where the asset does not generate cash inflows that are independent from other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit ("CGU") to which the asset belongs. The recoverable amount s determined as the fugher of fair value less
direct costs to seil and the asset or CGU's value in use. In assessing recoverable amount, the estimated future ¢ash flows are discounted
to their present value. Estimeated future cash flows are calculated using estimated recoverable mineral reserves, estimated future
commeodity prices and the expected future operating and capital costs. The projected cash flows are affected by changes in assumptions
about metal selling prices, future capitat expenditures, production cost estimates, discount rates, and exchange rates. The discount rate
applied to the estimated future cash flows reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. Determining the discount rate includes appropriate adjustments
far the nsk profile of the country in which the individual asset or CGU operates

If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU 15 requced 10 i85
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of {loss) / income. Assels that have beenimpaired are

tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the impairment may have
reversed. Where an impairment subseguently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU I1s increased to the revised estimate

of its recoverable amount, but only so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortization or depletion) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset or CGU in prior periods. A reversal of
impairmant is recognised in profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contnued)

Taxes
Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable result for the period. Taxable profit or loss differs from reported profit or loss because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The liability for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilines in the
Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and 1s accounted for using the balance sheet
lability method. Deferred tax habilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assels are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the hability is settled or the asset 1s realised.
Deferred tax is charged or ¢redited in profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Tax relating to items recognised In other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 1ax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and
habilities on a net basis,

Mining taxes and royalties are treated and disclosed as current and deferred taxes if they have the characteristics of an income tax. Thisis
considered to be the case as they are imposed under government authority and the amount payable is calculated by reference to revenue
derived (net of any allowable deductions) after adjustment for items comprising temporary differences.

Compound instruments and borrowings

The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial lizbilities and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual agreement. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market Interest rate for sirmilar debt instruments. This amount s recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis untl exunguished upon
conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the hiab:lity cornpanent
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and 15 not
subsequently remeasured.

Borrowings are classified as current habilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the hatulity for at least 12
months after the reporting pericd.

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Financial instruments

Onnitial recognition, financial assets are recognised at fair value and are subseqguently classified and measured at (i) amortised cost, ()
fair value through other comprehensive income ("FYOCI™; or (ifi) fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL). The classification of financial
assets Is generally based on the business modelin which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow charactenistics A
financial asset is measured at fair value net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition except for financial assets at
FVTPL where transaction costs are expensed. All financial assets not classified and measured at amortised cost or FVOCi are measured
at FVTPL. On initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCl,

Tre classification determines the method by which the financial assets are carried on the statement of financial position subsequent 1o
inception and how changes in value are recorded. Accounts receivable are measured at amortised cost with subsequent impairments
recognised in the statement of (loss) / income  Concentrate receivables and derivative assets are measured at FVTPL with subsequent
changes recegnised in profit or loss,

The mark-to-market adjustments for provisional pricing changes on concentrate recewvables are based on forward commoedity prices of
metals and are included in revenues until final settlement.

Financial liabilities are designated as either: (i) fair value through profit or loss; or (i) amorused cost. All finanaal liabifities are classifiad
and subsequently measured at amortised cost except for financial liabilities at FVTPL. The classification determines the method by which
the financial Yiabilives are carried on the statement of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes invalue are recorded.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as amaortised cost and carried on the statement of financial position at amortised
cost. Alf interest and other borrowing costs incurrad in connection with the above are expensed as incurred and reported as part of
financing costs in the statement of comprehensive income, The Company derecognises financial liabilities whep, and only when, the
Company's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fafr value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the kability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantagecus market for the asset or liability.

A fair vaiue measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 1o generate economic benefits by using
the asset In 1ts highest and best use or by selling it to ancther market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

All assets and lisbilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Financial Statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy described as follows:
{) Level 1 - quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(i} Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement .s directly or
indirectly cbservable
(iii) Level 3 - valuation techriques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 15 uncbservable

External valuers are invclved for the valuation of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, and significant liabilities such as
contingent consideration.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain significant finanaing
components. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less loss allowance.

Impairment and uncellectibility of financial assets

An'expected credit loss’ impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be recognised based on expected credit losses.

This applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the asset is
determined and an impairment loss is recognised for the difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with the asset, discountad at the financial
asser’s original effective interest rate, either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognised in
profit or loss for the period,

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets measured at amortised cost decreases, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the
date the impairment is reversed does nat exceed what the amortised cost would have been haa the iImpairment not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks. Any Interest earned 15 accrued monthly and
classified as finance income. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Trade and other payabhles

These amaunts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group and Company prior to the end of the financal year wnich
are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methoed.

Leases
The Group recognises lease liabilities in relation to leases cther than leases of low-value assets and short-term leases {shorter than twelve
manths). The lease liabilities are calculated at the present value of the remaining fease payments, discounted using the interest rate
imphcit in the lease, If that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing
rate is used, calculated as the local government bond rate plus an interest rate spread. In cases where there 1s an option to terminate or
extend a lease, the duration of the lease assurmed for this purpose reflected the Group's existing intentions regarding such options. Lease
habiltties include the net present value of the following lease payments:
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

+ variable lease payments that are based on an index or & rate

+ amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

+ the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option,

The right of use asset is measured initially at the amount equal to the lease liability, plus any costs of bring the asset into use. The right-of-
use asset is depreciatad over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cortnued)

Reclamation and closure cost obligations

Areclamation and closure cost obligation is recognised for close down, restoration and environmental rehabilitation cests {(which inciude the
dismanthing and demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the financial period when
the related environmental disturbance occurs, based on the estimated future costs using information availacle at the balance sheet date. At
the time of establishing the provision, a corresponding asset is capitatisad, where it gives rise 10 a future benefit, and amortised over futere
production from the operaticns (o which it relates. The provision is discounted using & current market-based pre-tax discount rate and the
unwinding of the discount is included in profit or loss as interest expense from discounting reclamation and closure cost oonligations

The obligation is reviewed each reperting period for changes to obligations, legislation or discount rates that Impact estimated Costs or
lives of operaticns. The cost of the related asset is adjusted for changes in the provision resulting from changes in the estimated cash
flows or discount rate and the adjusted cost of the asset is amortised prospectively.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present chiigation {legal or constructive), as a result of past events, and it is probable
tnat an outflow of resources that can be reliably estimated wall be required to settle the cbligation. The amount recognisec as a provision
is the best estimate of the consideration required 1o settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks

and uncertainties surrounding the obligation, Where the effect is material, the provision is discounted te net present value using an
appropriate current market-hased pre-tax discount rate and the unwinding of the discount 1s included in profit or loss as interest expense
from discounting obligations.

Revenue recognition

Sales are recognised and revenue is recorded at market prices following the transfer of title and risk of ownership, provded that collection
is reasonably assured, the price is reasonably determinable, the Company has no significant cantinuing invelvement, and the costs
incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured readily. The Company's metal concentrates are sold under

a pricing arrangement where final prices are determined by quoted market prices in a period subsequent to the date of sale. Untl

prices are final, revenues are recorded based on forward market prices for the expected period of final settement, net of costs such

as transportation and refining which will be incurred in completing the transaction. Subsequent variations in the final determination

of the metal concentrate weight and assay are recognised as revenue adjustrents as they occur until finalised. Subsequent vanauons

in the final determination of the price are treated as a remeasurement of a financial asset under IFRS 9 and are recagnised as revenue
adjustments as they occur until finalised.

Empioyee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave, that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up
10 the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liahilities are settled

Earnings per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings available (stiributabie} to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The computaticn of diluted earnings (loss) per share assumes the
conversion, exercise or cantingent issuance of securities only when such conversion, exercise or 1ssuance would have a dilutive effect on
earnings (loss) per share.

The dilutive effect of convertible securnities is reflected in diluted earnings {loss) per share by application of the "if converted” methoa,

investment in subsidiary
The Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost, less any provision for impairment

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are shown in equity as
a deduction from proceeds

Share based payments

The fair value of services received from employees and third parties in exchange for the grant of share options and warrants is recognised
as an expense, except for those granted in connection with the issue of new ordinary shares which are shown as a deduction in eguity. A
corresponding inCrease is recognised in other reserves in equity. The fair value of the share options and warrants is calculated using an
appropriate valuation model. At each reporting period end the Company revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected
to become exercisable, The proceeds received net of any attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominat value) and
share premium when exercised.
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0. OPELRATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner cansistent with the internal reporting provided to the Board, who are responsible for
aliccating resources and assessing performance of the aperating segment.

The Group has one operating segment, being copper mining (of which gold and silver are by-products), therefore all IFRS 8 disclosures are
incorporated within other notes to the Financial Statements.

/. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

uss‘000 us$'000
Copper 12,789
Gold 1,579
Sitver 54
Total gross revenue 14,422

Less: treatment and selling costs {2,024 -

Revenue 12,398 -

All revenue comprises the sale of metal concentrate to one customer.

When considering the recognition of revenue, IFRS 15 requires preparers to go through five steps which will determine the timing and
guantum of the revenue recognised at a given time.

1. Identify contract with a customer

Since acquisition, and through 2020, Minto sells its concentrate te only end customer, which is Sumitomo, under an offtake agreement. Sales
of copper are made direct to Sumitomo and sale of gold and silver are made ta Sumitomo via Wheaton, hence the valuation of the gold and
sitver revenues is determined by Minto's contract with Wheaton but timing of revenue recognition for them is the same as for copper

2. |dentify performance obligation

The performance obligation is the sale of copper, gold and silver concentrate to Sumitomo, including its transperiation Lo a location
specified by them in lapan. At the end of each month, under the offtake agreement, Minto weighs and assays the concentrate it has
produced and Sumitomo takes title to it, paying Minte a provisional payment of 90% of its value. Minto must keep the concentrate
separate from any other product in a location approved by Sumitomo and may not sell it to any other party. From this point, Minto has
control over the concentrate and, if it is still physically in Minto's care, Minto 15 acung as its custodian for Sumitomao.

3. Determine the transaction price

The Company's metal concentrates are sold under a pricing arrangement where final prices are determrmined by quoted market prices in
a period subsequent to the date of sale. Until prices are final, revenues are recorded based on forward market prices for the expected
period of final settlement. Subsequent variations in the final determination of the metal concentrate weight and assay are recognised
as revenue adjustments as they cccur until finalised. Subsequent variations in the final determination of the price are treated as a
remeasurement of a financial asset under IFRS 9 and are recognised as revenue adjustments as they occur until finalised.

4. Allocate price to each performance obligation

There is one overarching performance obligaticn, which s the delivery of metal concentrates to Sumitame. This includes the production
of the concentrates and their transportaticn to Japan. Their transpeortation does not carry significant risks or rewards and its cost can be
estimatad in advance, so the revenue is recognised net of that cost until it is delivered.

5. Recognise revenue when the performance cbligation is satisfied by transferring good or service to customer (i.e. the
customer obtains control)

Because Sumitomo gains control over the concentrate at the end of each month, even if it is on the Minto site, and its subseguent
fransportation does not carry significant risks or rewards, the main obligation is satished when Sumitomo takes title and the revenue is
booked at this time, net of costs such as transportation and refining which will be incurred in completing the transaction,
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g OPERATING LOSS
Audit fees and staff costs are shown in notes 9 and 10.
Exceptional items charged 1in 2019 related to the acquisition of Minto and the re-listing of the Company's shares. They comprised legal

and listing fees of $609,000 and bonuses to directors and staff of the Company that were contingent on the acquisition and re-lisung of
$1,738,000.

9. AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

US$'000 Uss$000

Remuneration receivable by the Company's auditors for the audit of the Financial Statements 53 18
Fees payable 1o the Company's auditor and its associates for other services 39 58
Total remuneration 92 76

10, EMPIOYEES AND KEY MANAGEMENT

The total Birectors’ emoluments for the year, ncluding share based payments, were US$1,997,000 (2018 - US$479,000) Detalled
disclosure of Birectors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Directors' rernuneration report on page 15.

The average number of employees in the Group during the year was 34 (2018 - 7) and in the Company was 4 (2018 - 7).

Key management personnel as defined under 1AS 24 have been identified as only the Board of Directors

Group Group Company Company
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Uss'000 Us$000 Us$'000 uss'000
Staff costs

Wages and salaries 5878 1,038 2,579 1,038

Redundancy costs 668 - 668
Social security costs 391 136 391 136
Imjury protection and health insurance 270 - - -
Pensions 65 12 10 12
Share based payments 250 - 250 -

7522 1,186 3,898 1,186
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company has entered into the following related party transactions with its Directors in order to fund working capital:

a} On 28 August 2018, the Company barrowed £200,000 from Frank McAllister. The loan had no fixed term, but was due to be
repad within 30 days of the Company being re-listed. The loan carried an interest rate of 10% per annum, payanle semi-annually
N arrears.

b} On 13 December 20718, the Company borrowed £40,000 from Frank McAllister. The loan had a two year term, and carried an
interest rate of 20% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears,

¢} on 20 December 2018, the Company borrowed £40,000 from Guy Le Bel. The loan had a two year term, and carnied an interest
rate of 20% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears

d) on 25 February 2019, the Company borrowed £40,000 from Gati Al-Jebour. The loan had a two year term, and carried an interest
rate of 20% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. On 19 June the Company borrowed an addiuonal £31.033 from fim on
the same terms.

Upon re-listing on 16 December 2019, the above lcans and accrued interast thereon were settled in shares,

On 30 October 2019, the Company entered into a convertible toan facility of £1.7 million with Gati Al-Jebouri. The loan is to be repaid by
25 Qctober 2027 and carries interest at an annual rate of 8%. The Company also pays an arrangement fee in the amount of 6% of the
amounts drawn down under the Convertible Loan, Of this facility, £1.5 milhon hag been borrowed at 31 December 2019, At any time
prior to the Termination Date Mr Al-Jebouri may efect to convert all or part of the Convertible Loan intc ordinary shares of nominal value
1 pence each in the capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”), to ke issued at 12.5 pence per share, provided that such election would
not place the lender's shareholding above 29.9% of the total issued share capital of the Company. The Company may elect to repay any
portion of the Converuble Loan at any peint prior to the Termination Date, provided always that the Lender will have the option 1o have
such repayment made in Ordinary Shares, to be issued at the Conversion Price.

12, FINANCE COSTS

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

USs'000 US$'000
Interest on loans 727
Discount unwind on provisicn 376
Interest from leases 192

1,295
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15 INCOME TAX

Current tax:

UK corporatien tax gn the result for the year
Total current taxation

Deferred taxation

Income tax

Differences explained below,

Loss before tax

Loss before tax multiplied by the standard rate 19% (2018 19.25%)
Effect of;

Different tax rates

Non-qualifying depreciation

Expenses not deductible

Non-taxable portion of unrealised gains

Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised
Yukon mining taxes

Tax charge / (credit) for the year

Unrecognised deferred tax asset
Tax losses UK - excess management expenses

Tax losses Canada

Year Ended
31 December
2019

US$'000

(292}
266
(26)

[13.087)
(2,487)

(519)

244
23
2,738
{26}
{26]

2,145
1727
3,872

Year Ended
31 December
2018

Uss$'000

(3,829)
{727)

727

1,134

1,134

The deferred tax assets are currently unrecognised as the likelihcod of sufficient future taxable profits does not yet meet the definition of

“probable”.

The unrecognised deferred tax asset has no expiry period.

The deferred tax ligbility of $270,000 (2018: nil) relstes to timing differences on long-term assets.
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14, BEARNMNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per ordinary share is based on the following data:

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

Basic and diuted loss per share (US cents) (33.5Q) ("7.1¢)
Weighted average number of shares for basic and diluted loss per share 24,063,552 22384926

The basic and diluted loss per share have been caiculated using the loss attributable to shareholders of the Company of US$8,063,000
{2018: US$3,829,000) as the numerator, .e. no adjustment to loss was necessary. The basic and dilutive loss per share are the same as the
effect of the exercise of share options and warrants would be anti-dilutive.,

The number of shares and foss per share for 2018 have been restated to reflect the impact of the consclidation of every 10 existing
ordinary shares of nominal value 0.1 pence each into one Crdinary Share of nominal value 1p.

Details of share options and warrants that could potentially dilute earnings per share in future periods are set out in Note 25,

15, PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP

Right of use
Mineral Plant, Construction assets - plant Total
properties  equipment and in progress  and equipment
motor vehicles

UsSs$'000 Us$'000 UsS$'000 Us$'000 UsS$'000
Cost
AL 1 January 2019 - 21 . - 21
Additions - - 403 7,065 7,468
Acquisition of subsidiary 20,370 22,986 1,954 - 45310
Rehabilitation provision adjustment {813) - - - (813)
Disposals - {9) - - (9)
FX on translation 724 831 77 113 1,745
At 31 December 2019 20,281 23,829 2,434 7178 53,722
Depreciation
AL January 2019 - (&) - - (&)
Charge for the year (149} {2,045) - (1,265} (3.45%)
Depreciation written back on disposals - 4 - - 4
FX on translation (3) (33) - {(19) {55}
Al 31 December 2019 (152) {2,080) - (1,284) {3.516)
Net book value at 31 December 2019 20,129 21,749 2,435 5,894 50,207

Net book value at 31 December 2018 - 15 - - 15
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15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - COMPANY

Cost

AU January 2019

Addinons

Cisposals

At 31 December 2019

Depreciation

AL 1 January 2019

Charge for the year

Depreciation written back on disposals
AL 31 December 2019

Net book value at 31 December 2019

Net book value at 31 December 2018

16, INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP

Cost

AUT january 2019
Additions

FX on translatuon

At 31 December 2019
Depreciation

AUT January 2019
Charge for the year
FX on translation

At 31 December 2019

het book value at 31 December 2019

Net nook value at 31 December 2018

Furniture and
office equipment
Uss$'000

Mining claims
Us5$'000

148
237

354

394

148
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17, INVENTORIES

Consumable parts and supplies

Ore stockpiles {to be processed within 12 months)

Group

31 December

2019
US$'000

1,666
4,044

5710

Group

31 December
2018

Uss$'000

Inventories recognised as an expense dunng the year are shown in profit and loss as ‘Production <osts’ and amounted 1o US$14,735,000.

No inventories were written down during the year.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group

31 December

2019

Us$'000

Trade receivables 6,562
inter-company receivables

Cther receivables 10

Prepayments 298

VAT and other sales taxes 693

Unpad share capital 1,047

Other receivables 2,048

Trade and other recelvables - current 8,610

Other receivables - non-current: Long-term deposits 4,040

Group

31 December
2018
Us$0090

207

26

240
240

Long term depaosits are held to provide security for decommissioning cost obligations.

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group

31 December
2019

US$'000

Cash and short-term deposits 964

Group

31 December
2018
uss000

151

Company

31 December
2019

UuSs5000

394
10
14
25
1.047
1.450
1,490
1517

Company

31 December
2019

Us$'000

399

Company

31 December
2018

Us$000

153
207

26

Company

31 December
2018
Uss$000

3o
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20, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Group Company Company

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2019 2018 2019 2018

Uss$’000 Us$'000 Uss‘000 Us$'000

Trade payables 6,973 900 900
Other payables and accruals 1,763 331 1,738 5931
8,736 1.831 1,738 1,831

Trade and other payables are non-

27, LEASE LIABILITIES

interest bearing and normally settled in the month following date of invoice

Lease liabilities

Us$'000
Additions 6974
Lease payments (1.627)
Interest accretion 192
FX on translation 88
Al 31 December 2019 5,633
Current portion 2,889
Non-current portion 2,734
5,633

Undiscounted lease liabilities:
No later than T year 3,328
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,939
At 31 December 2019 6.297

During the period ended December 31, 2019, the Group entered inte lease arrangements for several mining equipment assets. The
incremental borrowing rate for the lease habilites initiafly recognised 1s 10 percent. Interest expense on the lease liabilities amounted to
US$192,000 for the period ended December 31, 2018 {2018 - $nil). There were no leases with residual value guarantees or leases not yet
commenced to which Minto is committed. The expense relating to short-term leases and low value leases amounted to $nit for the period
ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - $nil).

The right of use assets are shown in Note 15. The maturity analysis of lease labilities is disclosed in Note 28.
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22, RECLAMATION AND CLOSURE COST PROVISION

AL aCquisition

Change in estimate

Interest expense from discounting obligations
FX on transiatien

At 31 December 2019

Reclamation and
closure cost provision
Uss$'000

22,084
(813)
376
791

22438

The change in estimate related to the reclarmation and dlosure cost obligation of $0.8 million was recorded as a decrease to mineral progerties,

Areclamation and closure cost obligation has been recognised in respect of the mining ¢perations of the Minto Ming, Including associated
infrastructure and buildings. The estimated undiscounted cash flows required to satisfy the Minto reclamaton and clesure cost obligation
as at December 31, 2019 were $27.5 million, which were adjusted for inflation and uncertainty of the cash flows and then discounteg

using current market-based pre-tax discount rate of 1.68 percent {June 3, 2019 - 2.51 percent). An amount of C$72 1 milhor s secured by
& Surety Bond from Zurich insurance Company Ltd. in favour of the Government of Yukon, Capstone Mining Corp. acts as an indermnizor 1o

the surety bond provider.

The Company expects that the cash outflows In respect to the balances accrued at the financial statement date will occur proximate to the

dates these long term assets are retired.

In view of uncertainties cancerning reclamation and closure €ost obligations, the ultimate costs could be materially different from the
amounts estimated. The estimate of future reclamation and closure cost obhgations is also subject to change based on amendments to
applicable laws and legislaticn. Future changes in reclamation and closure cost obligations, If any, could have a significant impact on the

asset retirement obligation.
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23 BORROWINGS

Group Group Company Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
US$'000 UsS$'000 Us$'000 UsS$'000

Loan notes 8,582 - -
Loans from directors - non-current 2,049 1032 2,049 103
Borrowings - non-current 10,631 103 2,043 103
Loans from directors - current - 279 - Z79
Total borrowings 10,631 382 2,049 382

The Company and Mintc entered into a Financing Agreement on 3 June 2019 with Copper Holdings, LLC, @ New York based private eguity
group and Cedro Holdings |, LLC, an entity managed by Licn Point Capital, L.P. {together, the "investor Consortium®), pursuant to which the
Investor Consortium advanced $10 million to Minto to finance the recommencement of cperations. The $10 miilion comprised $1.6m of
subscription proceeds from new 'B' shares issued by Minto and $8.4m of proceeds, net of a 15.9% discount, frem a private placement of
$10m of 8% loan notes. The Investor Consortium shail he entitled to be repaid from all free cash-flows and realisations arising from Minto
until the holders of the loan note (i.e., the Investment Consoroum, their assignors and successors) have received US$10.000,000 plus
interest at a rate of 8% per annum. The Investor Consortium have bean granted security over the assets of Minto until such time as the
holders of the loan note have been repaid.

Cn 30 October 2018, the Company entered into a convertible loan facility of £1.7 million with Gau Al-Jebouri, Chief Executve Officer and
Chairman of the Board. The loan is to be repaid by 25 Octeber 2021 and carries interest at an annual rate of 8%. The Company also pays
an arrangement fee in the amount of 6% of the amounts drawn down under the Convertible Loan. Of this facility, £1.5 million had been
borrowed at 31 Cecember 2019.

Ag at 31 Decernber 2019, any time prior to the Termination Date Mr Al-febourr could elect to convert all or part of the Convertible Loan

Into ardinary shares of nominal value 1 pence each in the capital of the Company {*Crdinary Shares”), to be issued at 12 5 pence per share,
provided that such election would not place the lender's shareholding above 22.9% of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company. The
Company may elect to repay any portion of the Convertible Loan at any point pricr to the Termination Date. Since the year end, as described
in note 33, the Company and Mr AlJebouri agreed changes to the terms of the loan that included the removal of convertible rights.

During 2019, previous loans made to the Company by its Directors were settled in shares.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

Allotted, called up and fully paid

AUt January 2019

Impact of share consolidation (see below)

At re-listing

Proceeds from share issue at 0.125p per share

AL 31 Decemnber 2019

cricioa A Doconhie

IVAOIS

Number of
ordinary shares

223,849,258
(201,464,332}
22,384,826
40,846,568
63,231,494

Share Capital -
ordinary shares
Ussooo

295

295
530
825

Share premium
UsS3$000

2,902

2,902
5,598
8,200

Ordmnary shares have attached to them full voting, dividend and capital distribution rights {including on a winding up).
On 16 july 2018 the Company announced the consolidation of every 10 existing ordinary shares of nommal value 0.1 pence each into one
Ordinary Share of naminal value 1p, which took place immediately before the shares were re-listed on the London Stock Exchange on 16

December 20719,

25, SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Total
Ussooo

3197

3197
6,528
9,725

Movements in the number of share options and warrants and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

2019

Options and warrants

Number

Outstanding at 1 January 177,110,843
impact of share consclidation (159,399,759)
Granted 6,284,800
Forfeited (16,136,084}
Outstanding at 31 December 7,859,800
Exercisable at 31 December 1,650,800

Average exercise price
(pence)

3.29
3.29
12.65
33.39
1909
39.23

Options and warrants

2018

Number

220,139,010

(47.082,949)
177,110,843
16,241,084

Average exercise price

{pence)

352

434
329

33.30

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share opuons and warrants outstanding as at 31 December 2019 was 8.6 years (2018

1.8 years).

The fair value of share-based payment transactions is calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. Key inputs to the maodel were
volatility 56.69%, risk free rate 0.61% and dividend yield 0%. Share options and warrants cutstanding at the end of year have the following expiry

dates and exercise prices:

Grant-Vest Expiry date
2017 2019
2018 2019
2018 2020
2018 2027
2018-2019 2027
2018-2020 2027
2015-2021 2025
2019 2022

Exercise price

(pence)
434
32.0
434

20.00
40.00
80.00
12.50
15,625

2019
Number

600,000

300,000
225,000
225,000
225,000
5,984,000
300,800

As descriced in note 33, on 16 April 2020 the Directors surrendered their rights to options over 4,085,600 shares.

2018
Number (before
consolidation)

6,000,000
146,060,083
3,000,000
7,350,000
7,350,000
7,350,000
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26 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND ACQUISITION OF NOMN-CONTROLLING INTEREST
Acquisition of Minto Explorations Ltd

On 3 june 2019 the company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of Minte Explorations Ltd (Minto) fram Capstone Mining
Corp (Capstone} ("Minto Acquisition™,

The consideration for the Minto Acguisition, which is unconditional, comprises up to US320 million in total payments due to Capstone
payable out of future cash flows and realisations from Minto and based on certan hurdles linked to preduction levels at Minto as well as
future copper prices as detailed below.

1 First payment to Capstone of US$5 million will be due at the earlier of when production at Minto has reached a steady state 60%
of mill capacity and 21 January 2021 (the ‘Restart Date’),

2. Second payment to Capstone of US$5 million will be due once production at Minto has reached 60% of mill capacity and the
copper price has averaged over US$3.00/1b (US$6,615/t) for two consecutive quarters, within three years of the Restart Date.

3. Final payment to Capstene of US$10 million will be dus upon the copper price achieving an average of US$3.50/b {US$7.717/1)
for two Consecutive quarters, within three years of the Restart Date,

The Company has calculated a fair value for the total consideration due for the Minto Acquisition as US$9.2 million, and accordingly a
liability of $5.2 million is reccrded in the consolidated statement of financial position.

On the same day, to fund the re-starting of mine cperations, Pembridge made an agreement with two other investors, Copper Holdings
and Lion Paint, who each acquired non-voting B shares in Minto which represent a one third economic interest each in Minto.

The provisional fair values of identifiable assets and Labilities of Minto as at the date of acquisition were;

Provisional fair value

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents 1
Inventory 2,325
Long term deposits 2,371
Current assets 4,697
Mineral properties 20,370
Praperty, plant and equipment 229856
Construction N progress 1,854
Non-current assets 45,310
Total assets 50,007
Income and mining tax (317)
Reclamation and closure cost provision (22,084}
Total liabilities {22,401)
Net Assets acquired at fair value 27,606
Non-controlling interest 18,404
Purchase consideration §,202
27,606

The Group elected to recognise the non-controlling interest at the proportionate share of the acquired identifiable net assets.

The finalisation of the valuation work required to determine the fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired will be completed within
12 months of the acquisition date.
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26, BUSINESS COMBINATION AND ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTRCLLING INTEREST {continued)

The Company's one third economic interest in Minto means that it has an interest in 33% of the above net assets, which is US$9.2m
No goodwill arose on the acquisition,

The revenue and loss before tax of Minto since acquisition, and for the full year, are set out below.

Fram acquisition From 1 January 2019

UsSs$ 000 Us$'000
Revenue 12,3298 24,556
Loss before income tax (7.562) (12,916)

There was no up front consideration for the acquisition. Transacuion costs such as legal fees directly retated to the acguisition were
$198,000.

The non-current assets are not movable so were valued on an income basis as a part of the wider Minto business. This required a DCF
valuation of the overall business, based on the investment case, which gave a Business Enterprise Value ('BEV) The values of the mineral
properties and property, plant and equipment from an independent valuation were reduced by an obsolescence provision in order that
the fair-valued nets assets would fit within the BEV.

mMinto's reclamation and closure cost provision reflects its abligation to restore past disturbances caused by the mining, exploration and
development of the mine. It was valued with the income approach, refiecting the present value of the expected reclamation cash flows,
based on an appropriate discount rate to reflect the time value and risk of the cash flows

27 NON-CONTROLUNG INTEREST IN MINTO EXPLGRATIONS LID

The Company and its fellow investors each own a one third economic interest in Minto Explorations Lid, which means that there is a non-
controling interest in Minto of 67%. Movements in the non-controlling interest in the period are set out below.

$'000
Balance at 1 january 2019
On acquisition of 67% economic interest of subsidiary 18.404
Investment by non-controlling interest in Minto share capital 1,059
Share of loss for the year (5,024
Share of exchange difference on translation 624

15,063
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27 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST IN MINTO EXPLORATIONS LTD (continue)

Summarised financial :nformation for Minto since its acquisition on 3 June 2019 15 set out below.

Summarised income statement from 3 June to 31 December 2019
Revenue

Operating loss

Loss before income tax

Income tax

Loss for the year

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019
Non-current assets

Current assets

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilties

Net assets

Cash flow statement from 3 June to 31 December 2019
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from invesung activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents on 3 June 2019

impact of exchange rates on cash balances

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$'000
12,398
(6,345)
(7,562)
26
{7,536)

52,726
13,789
(34,074)
{9,896}
22,595
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and metheds adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement ard
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial hability ana equity instrament,
are disclosed in note 5.

Tne only financial assets currently held by the Group are classified as receivables and cash and cash equivalerts.

Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts presented in the staternent of financial position relate to the following categories of assets and habilizies. The rade
payables are concentrate receivables as described in note 5. Because of the conditional nature of the deferred consideration due to
Capstone, this balance is shown at fair value and 15 subject to subsequent remeasurement vath changes in fa:r value being booked to the
income statement,

Group Group Company Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 USss$'000
Financial assets
At fair value through profit and loss
Trade receivables 6.562
At amortised cost
Inter-company receivables - - 394 153
Other recevables 1,750 233 1,082 233
Long-term deposits 4,040 - 1,517
Cash and cash equivalents 964 151 395 157
13,316 384 3392 537
Financial liabilities
At amortised cost
Trade payables {6,.973) {G00) - {900)
Other payables (1,763} (931} (1,738} (93%)
Borrowings (10,631) (382) {2,049 (382)
At fair value through profit and loss
Deferred consideration due to Capstone (8,202) - {9.202)
(28,569) (2,213) (12,989 (2,213}

As at 31 December 2019, trade and other receivables are all considered to be recoverable.

The fair value is equivalent to book value for current assets and liabilities at amortised cost. Trade receivables are ciassified as level 2
under the fair value hierarchy. The key inputs to the valuation of the trade receivable balance are payable metal and future metal prices.
At each reporting date, trade receivables are marked-to-market based on a quoted forward price for which there exists an active market,

The main risks arising from the Company's financial instruments are liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. tinterest rate rnisk is minimised
by fixed rate borrowings as described in note 20. The Directors review and agree policies for managing these risks and these are
summarised below.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liguidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital. [tis the risk that the Company will encounter aifficuliy in meetng its
financial obligations as they fall due. The Directors are current assessing the Company's options in respect of raising additional finance for

the business.

The Directors monitor cash flow on a regular basis and at guarterly Board meetings in the context of their expectartions for the business, in
order to ensure sufficient liquidity is avaitable to meet foreseeable needs.

The Group's casn at bank is held with institutions with A- and AA- credit ratings {Fitchy.

As of December 31, 2019, the Group's liakilities that have contractual maturities were as follows:

Carrying amount

Uss000

Trade and other payables 15,709
Long term debt 10,637
Lease habilives 5,634
Payable to Capstone 9,202
41,176

Contractual cash flows

Total 2020 2021 2022
Us$'a00 us$'000 Us$'000 UsS$000
15,709 15,709 0 0
12119 o] 2133 0
6,267 3,329 2525 414
5,000 5,000 0 0
39,096 24,038 4,658 414

2023 After 2023
Us$'000 UsS$'000
0 a

0 9,286

0 5

o 0

0 9,986

The cash flows for the payable to Capstone above are limited to the first payment due to the uncertainty over the other components of

the balance.

Foreign currency risk management

The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary habilines derominated in @ currency other than the relevant company's functional

currency at the reporting date are as follows,

UsD items in a CAD
functional company
31 December 2019
US$'000

Financial assets
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Borrowings

6,562
362
754

7,678

(363)
(8,582)
(8.945)
(1,267)

GBP items in a USD
functional company
31 Pecember 2019

Uss’000

1,082
399
1,487

(1,738)
(2.049)
(3.787)
(2.306)

UsD items in a CAD
functional company
31 December 2018
Us3$000

GBP items in a USD
functional company
31 December 2018
Us$000

{1.831)

(382}
{2,213}
(1,829
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The following table detalls the Group's sensitivity to & 10% increase and decrease in the US dollar agamst the relevant foreign currencies.

10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency nisk internally and represents Management's assessment of the

AV

reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominatec
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 10% change in fereign currency rates. A posiuve number below
indicates an increase in profit and equity where the US dollar strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the
US dolfar against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and equity, ana the balances below

would be negative.

Effect on loss

Effect on equity

29, RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

At 1 January

Us$'000
Cash at bank and in hand 151
Borrowings -
by the Company (382)
by Minto -
{(382)
Lease liabilities
Net debt {231}

New
borrowing
US$000

10,70

(2,265)
(8,436)
(10,701}
(6,974)
(6,974)

31 December 2019

US$'000
+10% 36
-10% 36
~10% 36
-10% 36
Interest
added to Other cash
debt Debtrepaid flows
USss$'000 US$'000 uss$'000
(2,765) (7,132)
(144 707
(583) 437
{(727) 1,144
{182) 1,621
{(919) (7,132)

30, CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
The Company considers its capital to be equal to the sum of its total equity, disclosed on the Group Balance Sheet, and net debt. The

Group's objectives when managing its capital are:

31 December 2018

Foreign
exchange
US$'000

9

35

Us$'000
183
183
183

183

At 31
December
US$'000

564

(2,049)
(8,582)
(10.63M)
(5,633)
(15,300}

+ To ensure that the Group and all of its businesses are able to operate as going concerns and ensure that the Group cperates within
the financial covenants contained within its debt facilities

- To have available the necessary financial rescurces to allow the Group to invest in areas that may deliver acceptable future returns

o Investors

+ To maintain sufficient financial resources to mitigate against risks and unforeseen events

- To maximise shareholder value through maintaining an appropriate balance between the Group's equity and net debt
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37, GROUP STRUCTURE
The parent enuty of the Group is Pembridge Resources pic, incorporated in England, and the book vafue of its subsidianies are set out below.

Company
$'000

AL January
ACQUISITION 3,207
At 31 Decemper 9,202

On 3rd June 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the voting rights in Minto Exploration Ltd {Minto’), which gives 1t contral over the
running of its subsidiary. The other two investors in Minto have non-voting shares which do not give them contrel but do entitle them
£ach to a third of its economic interest. As part of the agreement with the other two Investors they also each gained a third in the
economic interests of Yukon 536545 Inc. and Yukon 536445 In¢,

The detalls of its subsidiaries are as follows.
Ownership Interest

As at As at
Activity Registered office address  Jurisdiction 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Yukon 536545 Inc. Holds mining rights  200-204 Lambert Street, Canada 33% 100%
whitehorse, YT, Y1A 124
Yukon 536445 Inc. Helds mining rights  200-204 Lambert Street, Canada 33% 100%
Whitehorse, YT, Y1A 124
Minto Exploration Ltd. Mining 625 Howe Street, Suite 860, Canada 33%

Vancouver, BC, v6C 388

32, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contingent consideration

On 3 June 2019 the Company acguired all of the outstanding common shares of Minto Explorations Ltd ("Minto”) from Capstone Mining
Corp (Capstoneg) ("Minto Acquisition”). The consideration for the Minto comprises up ta US$20 miltion in total payments due to Capstone
payable out of future cash flows and realisations from Minto and based on certain hurdles linked to production levels at Minto as well as
future copper prices as detailed below. Of the three payments detailed below, the first is contingent only in respect of its timing, whereas
payments 2 and 3 are contingent on copper prices reaching certain levels within a specified timeframe.

1. First payment to Capstone of US$5 million will be due at the eartier of when production at Minto has reached a steady state 60% of
mill capacity and 31 January 2021 {the 'Restart Date’).

2.5econd payment to Capstone of US$5 million will be due once production at Minto has reached 60% of mill capacity and the copper
price has averaged over US$3.00/1b {US$6,615/1) for two consecutive quarters, within three years of the Restart Date.

3.Final payrnent to Capstone of US$10 mitlion will be due upon the copper price achieving an average of US$3.50b (US$7,717/t) for
two consecutive quarters, within three years of the Restart Date.

The Company has calculated a fair value as at 31 Decemnber 2019 for the total consideration due for the Minto Acquisition as US$9.2 mulhon.

This is split as follows:

Current 4,857
Non-current 4,305
9,202

Agreements with the Selkirk First Nation

Under the terms of a revised co-operation agreement between Minto and the Selkirk First Nation ("Selkirk”) dated 15 Cctober 2009, Minto
has made various commitments to Selkirk to enhance Selkirk participation in the Minto Mine, including a variable net smelter return royalty
on producticn from the Minto Mine that fluctuates from 0.5% to 1.5% depending on the variation of copper prices, as well as various
commitments in respect of employment, contracting, training and scholarship opportunities.
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(b)

Lhe yoear ended 31 Docembor 20004

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING DATE

InMarch 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic broke out. Canadian and Yukon gavernment measures have had significant impacts an the
Minto mine, including mandatory quaranunes of employess and contractors entering the Yukon. Such measures have disrupted
operations and caused above normal cperating expenses but have enabled operations to continue white ensuring the safety

of the mine's employees. There are significant uncertainties with respect to future developments and Impact 1o Minto relaied

to the COVID-19 pandemic, including the duration, severity and scape of the cutbreak and measures taken by government and
businesses to contain the pandemic.,

In Decemnber 2019, the other investors, Copper Heldings and Cedre Holdings, called for USD 3 million of new equity capital
investment into Minto from Pembridge Resources plc in accordance with the Minto Shareholders’ Agreement Hawving funded

C$4 million of Minto's total obligation to fund C$10 million over ten guarters into the control account, as reguired by Zunich

tn assoc:ation with the Surety Bond associated with Minto's asset retirement obligation and m accordance with the original
Sharehciders' Agreement, Pembridge believed that it had fulfilled this obligation. However, In view of the cash position of Minto
under the arcumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic, the shareholders agreed that a further USD 3 million was needed and that
It be funded by Copper Holdings and Cedro Holdings purchasing an additional 484,240,064 of Minto's Class B shares for USD 33
million. Such purchase would increase the combined economic cwnership of Copper Hotdings and Cedro Holdings in Minto from
66.66 percent to 89 percent, and would reduce the economic ownership of Pembnidge from 33.33 percent to 11 percent. Minto's
USD $10 million 8 percent Notes held by Copper Holdings and Cedro Holdings remain cutstanding. Concurrent with the USD $3
million to be invested by Copper Heldings and Cedro Holdings; Copper Holdings, Cedro Holdings and Pembricge will amend and
revise the existing Shareholder Agreement reflecting the above matters and other details. Such revisions were executed by the
parues at the ume of the purchase of the new Class B shares by Copper Haldings and Cedro Holdings, in May 2020.

Under the original Shareholders’ Agreement, Pembridge was committed to funding up to a further $2 million for the control
account, in addition to the $4m funded already on behalf of Minto. As part of the revised Shareholders’ Agreement described
above, Pembridge will be relieved of this obligation and such further funding will be made by the Company to complete the $10
million required. Minto continues to owe the existing funding, on which interest is payable, to Pembridge and will repay it in
guarterly stages when it has finished funding the control account.

On 16 April 2020 the Board of Directors approved the issuance and allotment of 11,175,439 new ordinary shares at a price of
3.3p each, raising proceeds of £368,000, In order to engble this share issue within the rules of the London Stock Exchange the
directors agreed to surrender their share options and the following changes were made to the Convertible Loan Agreement with
Fembridge’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Gatl Al-lebouri:

+ removing the right of Mr. Al-Jebour tc convert any of the loans to shares in the Company;

+ the maturity date of the loans was extended from 25 Qctober 2021 to 31 December 2022, The extension in maturity
corresponds with the Company’s expectations with regard to inflow of funds from Minto Explorattons Ltd to the Company, and

- In consideration for these changes, the Company agreed 1o increase the interest rate on the loan from 8% to 10% with effect
from 1st May 2020, with the accumulated interest to be paid only at the maturity date of the loan with no interim payments,

To increase the share capital headroom and so enable the share issue, the Directors surrendered their rights to option over
4,085,000 shares.
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